Summons and Agenda
23 March 2021

Chief Executive
Reading Borough Council
Civic Offices, Bridge Street,
Reading, RG1 2LU

Peter Sloman
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Civic Offices, Bridge Street,
Reading RG1 2LU
 0118 937 3787

To: All Members of the Council

Direct:  0118 937 2153
e-mail:
michael.popham@reading.gov.uk
15 March 2021

Your contact is:

Michael Popham - Democratic Services Manager

Dear Sir/Madam
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Reading Borough Council to be held as
an Online Meeting via Microsoft Teams, on Tuesday, 23 March 2021 at 6.30 pm, when it is
proposed to transact the business specified in the Agenda enclosed herewith.
Yours faithfully

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

www.reading.gov.uk | facebook.com/ReadingCouncil | twitter.com/ReadingCouncil
DX 40124 Reading (Castle Street)

AGENDA
1.

MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive Mayor’s Announcements.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest.

3.

MINUTES

9 - 18

The Mayor to sign the Minutes of the proceedings of the previous
Council Meeting.
4.

PETITIONS
To receive petitions in accordance with Standing Order 8.

5.

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
Questions in accordance with Standing Order 9.

6.

QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS
Questions in accordance with Standing Order 10.

Reports and Recommendations from Committees
7.

INVESTING IN READING'S FUTURE: READING BOROUGH COUNCIL'S
CORPORATE PLAN 2021-22

19 - 54

Report by Chief Executive
8.

COUNCILLORS' ALLOWANCES SCHEME 2020/21 - 2022/23

55 - 66

Report by Executive Director of Resources
9.

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021/22

67 - 92

Report by Executive Director of Resources
Recommendation from Personnel Committee
9a.

Designation of Section 151 Officer and Changes to Article 12 of the
Constitution

Motions
10.

SECURITY STAFF AT THE ROYAL BERKSHIRE HOSPITAL
Councillor Hoskin to move:

93 - 102

This Council notes:
-

That security staff perform vital frontline tasks to protect
patients and staff at the Royal Berkshire Hospital and are
subject to extra pressures and dangers at this time owing to the
pandemic.

-

That there is ongoing industrial strike action by Royal Berkshire
Hospital’s security guards, who are employed by Kingdom
Security in an outsourced arrangement by the NHS hospital trust
at an annual cost of over £750,000.

-

That the dispute is about the terms and conditions of these
staff. The current remuneration is £9.12 (£10.18 for supervisors)
an hour compared to far higher rates of pay for security guards
on other less dangerous local sites.

-

That there are no night pay or weekend rates and, for nonTUPE’d staff, there is no sick pay. Kingdom Security has an
annual turnover of over £100 million.

-

That the number of security guards employed at the hospital has
been cut from 31 in 2008 to 21 in 2021, equating to a ratio of
1,000 staff, 500 outpatients and 160 in-patients for one security
officer per day. This has resulted in increased and more intense
workloads.

-

That the contract with Kingdom Security is scheduled to end
later this year.

-

That Kingdom Security has had to be pressurised into accepting
any kind of mediation, and that ACAS is now involved.

-

That during the dispute, the use of agency security staff at a
premium rate are being used as a temporary measure.

This Council believes that:
-

The general public, staff and patients expect that all frontline
workers at our local hospital should be paid fairly for the
difficult work they are doing, particularly at this time.

-

The demand for £12 per hour, and £13 per hour for supervisors,
is justified and equates to band 3 on the NHS pay scale.

-

It is unethical to contract out to companies where the terms and
conditions are so poor and not properly protected.

-

The use of temporary and expensive agency staff is not in itself a
solution and compromises the security of staff and patients.

Consequently, this Council resolves to:
-

Support the cause of the Security Guards and requests all the
parties to arrive at a just solution in order to end the dispute.

-

Welcome the involvement of ACAS in seeking to bring the parties

together to end the dispute.
-

Request that the Leader of the Council write to the Chief
Executive Officer of the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust
calling on the Trust to urgently review its contracting
arrangements to ensure that future contracts are ethical, to
consider bringing the security staffing contract in-house when
possible, and to ask the Trust to use its influence to encourage
Kingdom Security to resolve the dispute.

-

Request that the Leader of the Council write to Kingdom
Security urging it to consider the level of danger and risk that its
staff are taking in their duties, and to adjust their profit margins
to meet the reasonable case being made by the staff.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
Present:

Councillor Stevens (Mayor);
Councillors David Absolom, Debs Absolom, Ayub, Ballsdon, Barnett-Ward,
Brock, Carnell, Challenger, Davies, Duveen, Eden, Edwards, Emberson,
Ennis, Gittings, Grashoff, Hoskin, James, Jones, Khan, Leng, Lovelock,
Maskell, McEwan, McGonigle, McKenna, O’Connell, Page, Pearce,
Robinson, Rowland, Rynn, D Singh, R Singh, Skeats, Sokale, StanfordBeale, Terry, White, Whitham, J Williams, R Williams and Woodward;

Apologies:
14.

Councillors Hacker and Manghnani.

MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2021 were confirmed as a correct record
and would be signed by the Mayor.
15.

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING
ORDER 9
Questioner

Subject

Answer

1.

Len Middleton

Settled Status of EU Citizens in
Reading

Cllr Brock

2.

James Denny

Provision for Pupils with SEN in
Reading

Cllr Pearce

3.

Alice Mpofu Coles

Decolonisation of the Primary and
Secondary Curriculum in Reading
Schools

Cllr Pearce

4.

Alice Mpofu Coles

Black Bins

Cllr BarnettWard

5.

Andrew HornsbySmith

Advice to Tenants

Cllr Ennis

6.

Carolyn Lyle

EU Citizens Settled Status

Cllr Brock

(The full text of the questions and replies was made available on the Reading Borough
Council website).
16.

QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING ORDER NO
10
Questioner

Subject

Answer

1.

Cllr J Williams

Local Election System

Cllr Brock

2.

Cllr White

Agency Manager Day Rates

Cllr Emberson

Page 9

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
3.

Cllr McGonigle

Double Parking Outside Alfred
Sutton School

Cllr Page

(The full text of the questions and replies was made available on the Reading Borough
Council website).
17.

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER’S REPORT ON THE ROBUSTNESS OF THE COUNCIL’S
2021/22 BUDGET

The Executive Director of Resources submitted a report fulfilling the requirement on
her under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 as the Council’s Chief Finance
Officer to report on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the
calculations of the budget and the adequacy of the proposed level of financial reserves.
The Council had a duty to have regard to the advice set out in the report when
considering setting its 2021/22 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy for the
subsequent two financial years. The Statement of Reserves and Balances, which
provided a summary of estimated reserve movements from 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2024, were attached to the report for information.
The following motion was moved by Councillor Brock and seconded by Councillor Jones
and CARRIED:
Resolved –
That the Chief Finance Officer’s report on the robustness of the Council’s
2021/22 budget and indicative budgets for the subsequent two financial years
2022/23 and 2023/24 be noted and the opinion contained therein be taken into
account in making the decisions set out below in Minutes 18-21 below.
18.

2021/22 BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY TO 2024

Further to Minutes 65 and 93 of the Policy Committee meetings held on 14 December
2020 and 15 February 2021 respectively, the Executive Director of Resources submitted
a report on the Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the three years
2021/22 – 2023/24. The report provided an update on the results of the budget
consultation exercise as well as changes arising from the publication of the Provisional
Local Government Finance Settlement and other changes that had arisen since the
report to Policy Committee in December.
The proposed Medium Term Financial Strategy was informed by and supported the
delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan priorities including its commitment to address
the climate change emergency; and sought to ensure that the Council was “fit for the
future”, with sound finances that would allow the Council’s future funding challenges
and spending pressures to be met in as sustainable a way as possible. The underpinning
rationale of the Medium Term Financial Strategy was to deliver a balanced and
affordable budget that ensured the Council’s finances were sustainable over the
medium term and that in the longer term the Council’s finances were not reliant on the
unsustainable use of one-off reserves or funding and that general and earmarked
reserves were maintained and bolstered to meet future funding challenges and risk.
The Strategy was informed by the Council’s Vision: “to ensure that Reading realises its
Page 10

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
potential – and that everyone who lives and works in Reading can share in the benefits
of its success”, as well as its Corporate Plan priorities. The Budget assumptions were
set out in the report as follows:
a) Council Tax increases of 1.99% for all three years of the MTFS (2021/22 to
2023/24) plus an Adult Social Care precept of 3.0% in 2021/22 and 1.0% in both
2022/23 and 2023/24;
b) £28.0m of efficiencies and increased income across the period;
c) A contingency provision over the three years (£3.8m 2021/22; £4.5m 2022/23;
and £6.1m 2023/24) to mitigate possible slippage or non-achievement of higher
risk savings and/or income targets over the period;
d) The set aside of £4.523m of Government funding to meet the continuing costs of
the pandemic and facilitate recovery;
e) Provision of a one-off grant in 2021/22 of £70 for residents in receipt of Council
Tax Support to help mitigate the increase in Council Tax in the current
circumstances;
f) General Fund capital investment of £200m and Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
capital investment of £101m over the period 2021/22 to 2023/24; and
g) £9.885m of transformation funding (over the period 2021/22 to 2023/24) to
support delivery of efficiency savings assumed within the MTFS and test new
service delivery models, taking the total transformation funding to £21.729m
across the whole life of the Delivery Fund.
The report had the following documents appended: Summary of General Fund Budget
2021-22 to 2023-24; General Fund Revenue Budget by Service 2021-22 to 2023-24;
Detailed General Fund Budget Changes 2021-22 to 2023-24; Housing Revenue Account
Budget & Reserves 2021-22 to 2023-24; General Fund and HRA Capital Programme 202122 to 2023-24; Flexible Capital Receipts Strategy; Fees and Charges; Equality Impact
Assessment; Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Funding 2021-22; details of the Budget
Consultation; and the Residents Survey 2020.
A motion was moved by Councillor Brock and seconded by Councillor Jones and CARRIED
as set out in the resolution below.
The following amendment was moved by Councillor White and seconded by Councillor
Whitham and LOST:
‘In the recommendation relating to 2021/22 Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy
to 2024, insert “subject to an additional recommendation (l) below” after the words
“…approve the Draft 2021/22 General Fund and Housing Revenue Account budgets,
Draft Capital Programme and Medium Term Financial Strategy as set out in Appendices
1-9, and…”
Add a new Recommendation (l) as follows:
“(l)

This Council notes:



Reading Council has declared a climate emergency.
39% of Reading’s carbon emissions comes from housing.
Page 11

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021





4,000 domestic properties per year need to be insulated in Reading.
9% (6,056) of our Reading households live in fuel poverty (where they don’t
have enough money to heat their home) and in some parts of the town it is
as high as 30% of households.
Most Council homes have had basic energy efficiency measures installed but
many private rented and owner-occupied properties haven’t.
Some government money is available but there is no government scheme of
the appropriate size to insulate the number of homes needed.

This Council resolves to:


Earmark £120,000 of the 20/21 General Fund revenue underspend to pay
for a 2 year Home Energy Conservation Officer fixed term post. This
person would get more houses in the private sector insulated through
tapping into grant and other funding sources.

Make all consequential amendments to the revenue and capital budgets arising from the
above amendment.’
The voting was as follows:
For the motion: 6
Williams.

Councillors Duveen, McGonigle, O’Connell, White, Whitham and J

Against the motion: 37
Councillors David Absolom, Debs Absolom, Ayub, Ballsdon, Barnett-Ward, Brock,
Carnell, Challenger, Davies, Eden, Edwards, Emberson, Ennis, Gittings, Grashoff,
Hoskin, James, Jones, Khan, Leng, Lovelock, Maskell, McKenna, McEwan, Page, Pearce,
Robinson, Rowland, Rynn, D Singh, R Singh, Skeats, Sokale, Stanford-Beale, Terry, R
Williams and Woodward.
Abstention: 1

Councillor Stevens.

The following amendment was moved by Councillor Duveen and seconded by Councillor
O’Connell and LOST:
‘In the recommendation relating to 2021/22 Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy
to 2024, insert “subject to an additional recommendation (l) below” after the words
“…approve the Draft 2021/22 General Fund and Housing Revenue Account budgets,
Draft Capital Programme and Medium Term Financial Strategy as set out in Appendices
1-9, and…”
Add new Recommendation (l) as follows:
“(l)

Make provision for an additional £150,000 in 2021-22 for planting more trees
and for purchasing a new bowser and towing vehicle and to make further
additional provision of £50,000 in 2022-23 and £50,000 in 2023-24.
The above provisions are to be funded from the underspend from 2020-21.”

Make all consequential amendments to the revenue and capital budgets arising from the
above amendment.’

Page 12

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
The voting was as follows:
For the motion: 6
Williams.

Councillors Duveen, McGonigle, O’Connell, White, Whitham and J

Against the motion: 37
Councillors David Absolom, Debs Absolom, Ayub, Ballsdon, Barnett-Ward, Brock,
Carnell, Challenger, Davies, Eden, Edwards, Emberson, Ennis, Gittings, Grashoff,
Hoskin, James, Jones, Khan, Leng, Lovelock, Maskell, McKenna, McEwan, Page, Pearce,
Robinson, Rowland, Rynn, D Singh, R Singh, Skeats, Sokale, Stanford-Beale, Terry, R
Williams and Woodward.
Abstention: 1

Councillor Stevens.

Resolved That, taking due regard of the results of the budget consultation exercise (as
outlined in Sections 3 and 4 and set out in more detail in Appendices 10 and 11
of the report), approve the Draft 2021/22 General Fund and Housing Revenue
Account budgets, Draft Capital Programme and Medium Term Financial Strategy
as set out in Appendices 1-9, and agree the following:
(a)

the Council’s General Fund Budget Requirement of £146.166m for 2021/22
and an increase in the band D Council Tax for the Council of 1.99% plus an
additional 3.00% Adult Social Care Precept, or £84.44 per annum,
representing a band D Council Tax of £1,776.60 per annum, excluding
precepts from Police and Fire, as set out in paragraph 9.2 of the report;

(b)

the utilisation of one-off grant funding in 2021/22 to award £70 to
residents in receipt of Local Council Tax Support to help mitigate the
increase in Council Tax as set out in paragraph 5.3 of the report;

(c)

the efficiency and invest to save savings of £13.7m together with
additional income of £1.4m in 2021/22 required to achieve a balanced
budget for that year as set out in Appendices 2 and 3 to the report;

(d)

the overall savings proposed within the MTFS of £28.0m (of which increases
to income, fees and charges would be £5.4m) and three-year growth
changes to service budgets of £19.5m as set out in Appendices 2 and 3 to
the report;

(e)

the budgeted draw from earmarked reserves totalling £2.776m to balance
the 2021/22 budget as set out in paragraph 5.18 of the report;

(f)

the Housing Revenue Account budget for 2021/22 of £43.647m as set out
in Appendix 4 to the report and the average increase of 1.5% in social
dwelling rents from April 2021 giving a revised weekly average social rent
of £104.11;

(g)

the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital Programmes as set
out in Appendices 5a and 5b to the report;

(h)

the Strategy for the use of flexible capital receipts to deliver future
transformation and ongoing savings as set out in Appendix 6 to the report;
Page 13

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
(i)

the changes to Fees and Charges set out in Appendix 7 of the report;

(j)

the Equalities Impact Assessment as set out in Appendix 8 to the report;

(k)

the allocation of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) as set out in Appendix 9
to the report.

A recorded vote having been demanded, the voting was as follows:
For the motion: 29
Councillors David Absolom, Debs Absolom, Ayub, Barnett-Ward, Brock, Challenger,
Davies, Eden, Edwards, Emberson, Ennis, Gittings, Hoskin, James, Jones, Khan, Leng,
Lovelock, Maskell, McKenna, McEwan, Page, Pearce, Rowland, D Singh, Sokale, Terry,
R Williams and Woodward.
Against the motion: 14
Councillors Ballsdon, Carnell, Duveen, Grashoff, McGonigle, O’Connell, Robinson, Rynn,
R Singh, Skeats, Stanford-Beale, White, Whitham and J Williams.
Abstention: 1
19.

Councillor Stevens.

CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021/22

Further to Minute 95 of the Policy Committee held on 15 February 2021, the Executive
Director of Resources submitted a report on the Capital Strategy, which was attached
as an Appendix, and provided an overview of where and how the Council intended to
deploy its capital resources to support the delivery of the strategic aims set out in the
Corporate Plan. The Capital Strategy should be read in conjunction with other strategic
documents such as the Medium Term Financial Plan, Treasury Management Strategy,
Asset Management Strategy, Corporate Investment Strategy and Carbon Reduction
Strategy.
The Capital Strategy had regard to prevailing Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government (MHCLG) Guidance and the Prudential Code. The Action Plan at
Appendix D of the Strategy identified four areas where work was ongoing for the Council
to become fully compliant with the CIPFA code requirements. These were:





Developing our knowledge of the existing asset base;
Identifying what assets we need in the future;
Developing and implementing new systems and processes, which enable
the transition to become fully compliant with the code requirements;
Reviewing current capacity within the organisation.

The following motion was moved by Councillor Brock and seconded by Councillor Jones
and CARRIED:
Resolved (1)

the Capital Strategy, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report, be
approved;
Page 14

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
(2)

20.

the updated Action Plan that forms Appendix D of the Capital Strategy be
noted, together with the associated financial implications.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT (2021/22); MINIMUM
REVENUE PROVISION POLICY (2021/22); ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY
(2021/22)

The Executive Director of Resources submitted a report seeking approval for a Treasury
Management Strategy, which had to be in place before the start of each financial year,
in accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 and the CIPFA
Prudential Code. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), was
attached to the report at Appendix A, setting out the parameters for the Council’s
planned Treasury activity during 2021/22, which the Council’s Treasury Team would
manage on a day-to-day basis. The TMSS reflected the Council’s Capital Programme
2021/22 to 2023/24 with non-treasury investments being registered in the Council’s
Capital Strategy, which was presented separately to the TMSS (see Minute 19 above).
The report also had appended the Treasury Management Policy 2021/22; Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP) 2021/22; and the Annual Investment Strategy.
The following motion was moved by Councillor Brock and seconded by Councillor Jones
and CARRIED:
Resolved –

21.

(1)

the Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2021/22 as set out in
Appendix A to the report;

(2)

the Treasury Management Policy for 2021/22 as set out in Appendix A to
the report;

(3)

the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy for 2021/22 as set out in
Appendix A to the report;

(4)

the Annual Investment Strategy for 2021/22 as set out in Appendix A to
the report, noting the revised total limit for Non-Specified Investments;
and

(5)

the Prudential and Treasury Management indicators as set out in Appendix
A to the report.

COUNCIL TAX SETTING

The Executive Director of Resources submitted a report seeking approval of the
calculations for determining the Council Tax requirement for the year 2021/22, in
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. The report also sought
approval to set the Council Tax amounts for each property valuation band in the Borough
including precepts from the Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner for Thames
Valley and Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service.

Page 15

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
The following motion was moved by Councillor Brock and seconded by Councillor Jones
and CARRIED:
Resolved –
(1)

(2)

22.

the following amounts that have been calculated for the year 2021/22 in
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act
1992 be agreed:
(i)

£457,986,350 - Gross Revenue Expenditure, including transfers to
reserves and any collection fund deficit, being the estimated
aggregate expenditure of the Council in accordance with section
31A (2) of the Act;

(ii)

£358,767,273 - Gross Revenue Income, including transfers from
reserves, general government grants and any collection fund
surplus, being the estimated aggregate income of the Council for
the items set out in section 31A (3) of the Act;

(iii)

£99,219,077 - Net Revenue Expenditure, being the amount by which
the aggregate at (i) above exceeds the aggregate at (ii) above,
calculated in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act, as the
Council’s Council Tax Requirement for the year (Item R);

(iv)

£1,776.60 - Reading Borough Council Band D Council Tax, being the
amount at (iii) above (Item R) divided by the Council’s tax base
55,847.73 (Item T) calculated in accordance with Section 31B(1) of
the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year,
representing an increase of 4.99% in the Council’s own tax;

the net tax base of 55,847.73 Band D equivalent properties (being the gross
tax base adjusted for an assumed collection rate) used for setting the
budget requirement for 2021/22 that was agreed by Council on 26 January
2021 be noted; and
(i)

that the Band D charge for Reading Borough Council be £1,776.60
as shown in section 4.4 of the report; and

(ii)

that, including the Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service and Thames
Valley Police precepts, Council Tax by property valuation band be
as set out in section 4.9 of the report.

POLLING PLACE IN WHITLEY WARD

Further to Minute 56 of the Council meeting of 26 March 2019, the Returning Officer
submitted a report, in accordance with the Electoral Administration Act 2006, which
required the Council to undertake a review of its polling districts and polling places
every five years to a national timetable. This report related to a recommended change
of polling place for Whitley Ward and would have effect for the Borough and Police &
Crime Commissioner elections to be held on 6 May 2021. The report also sought
delegated authority to the Returning Officer to alter polling places or polling stations
outside of the compulsory review period where urgent changes were required.
Page 16

COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – 23 FEBRUARY 2021
The following motion was moved by Councillor Brock and seconded by Councillor Page
and CARRIED:
Resolved –
(1)

That with regard to Whitley ward, Geoffrey Field Junior school be
designated as the polling place for Whitley ward (polling district SA) in
place of the Geoffrey Field Infants School with immediate effect;

(2)

That the Returning Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council
and the relevant ward members, be given delegated authority to alter
polling places or polling stations outside of the compulsory review periods,
where changes were required to be made as a matter of urgency.

(The meeting closed at 9.57 pm).

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE
TO:

Council

DATE:

23rd March 2021

TITLE:

Investing in Reading’s Future: Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan
2021-22

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Jason Brock

PORTFOLIO:

Leadership

SERVICE:

All

WARDS:

All

LEAD OFFICER:

Peter Sloman

TEL:

72067

JOB TITLE:

Chief Executive

E-MAIL:

Peter.Sloman @reading.gov.uk

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

‘Shaping Reading’s Future: Our Corporate Plan 2018-21’ was approved at Council
in June 2018 with an annual refresh published in June 2019.

1.2

In the context of the level of uncertainty due to the continuing pandemic we
have chosen to create a one-year corporate plan for 2021/22.

1.3

This new corporate plan ‘Investing in Reading’s Future: Reading Borough Council
Corporate Plan 2021-22’ sets out:





The Council’s vision and themes which provide the context for service
delivery;
The major initiatives that support delivery of the vision and the difference
we want to see for Reading
How the Council works together with partners and our contribution to
Investing in Reading’s Future; and
How we will measure the difference that we make

1.4

The final draft plan is attached at Appendix 1.

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Council’s Corporate Plan, titled ‘Investing in Reading’s Future:
Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021-22’ be approved as included
at Appendix 1 to the report.

Page 19

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan reflects our priorities for Reading and provides
direction for our staff in delivering services to meet the needs of our
communities whilst working to a budget set by our medium-term financial
strategy. In June 2019 Council had approved an annual refresh of ‘Shaping
Reading’s Future: Our Corporate Plan 2018-21’.

4.

THE PROPOSAL

4.1

‘Investing in Reading’s Future: Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 202122’ is attached at Appendix 1.

4.2

Progress against our measures and targets is reported to Councillors and a
quarterly performance report is published four times per year.
Service Plans

4.3

Service plans will be refreshed alongside the Corporate and Medium-Term
Financial Plan.

4.4

A Performance Improvement Framework is in place including reporting
mechanisms that provide a ‘golden thread’ linking the Corporate Plan
objectives, service and team plans through to the performance targets of
individual staff.

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

Our vision as Reading Borough Council is:
To ensure that Reading realises its potential – and to ensure that everyone who
lives and works here can share the benefits of its success.
We have three themes which contribute to delivering this vision. We will drive
the change that we want to see in Reading by focussing on these three themes.
These are:
 Healthy environment
 Thriving communities
 Inclusive economy

6.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

6.1

Budget-related communications and consultations will continue to be a priority
over the next three years as we work to identify savings and income
opportunities.

Page 20

7.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

7.1

The Council declared a Climate Emergency at its meeting on 26 February 2019.
There are no specific environmental and climate implications to report in
relation to the recommendations set out in this report.

8.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the
exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to—
 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
that is prohibited by or under this Act;
 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

8.2

The equality duty is relevant to the development of the Corporate Plan and
an Equality Impact Assessment has been completed.

9.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

There are no legal requirements to have a Corporate Plan. However, it is a key
strategic document which sets out the Council’s key priorities and provides a
framework for both budget development and service delivery.

10.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The priorities within the Corporate Plan form the basis of our spending plans
over the next three years. The Council’s financial position remains challenging
over the period of the Plan with an on-going need to drive efficiency,
productivity and income in order to secure service delivery. Therefore, this plan
and the budget will continue to be updated every year to take account of
changes.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

Appendix 1 – ‘Investing in Reading’s Future: Reading Borough Council
Corporate Plan 2021-22’

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Investing in

Reading’s
Future

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan
Page 23
2021/22

Foreword
from Cllr Jason Brock
Leader of Reading Borough Council

As we start this new financial year, we face a
situation of unprecedented uncertainty. The
Covid-19 pandemic has brought incredible
challenges for our town, our communities and
our economy. The crisis has kept us at home,
prevented children from going to school, closed
businesses and harmed the mental and physical
health of thousands of people. And as with
any crisis, the most vulnerable have been the
hardest hit. We don’t yet know how quickly we
will bring the pandemic under control, how fast
the economy will recover and the extent to which
people will face long term harm as a result. But
what we are certain about, is that Reading can
and will recover.
Throughout the pandemic, and in the wake of
the tragic attacks in Forbury Gardens last June,
our communities, our people, and our town
have shown they are resilient, innovative and
compassionate. We now need to build on these
strengths to make sure our recovery is more
than successful – to make sure it is equitable and
addresses the ways the pandemic has harmed
the most vulnerable and deepened existing
inequalities.

social and environmental goals from our last
corporate plan. We remain aspirational for the
future of Reading, and our vision is that the
environment, the economy and the community
are together at the heart of a more inclusive,
more equitable town. We want everyone to be
treated fairly; to have equal access to green
space, clean air, skills, services, jobs and
housing; and to benefit from Reading’s success.
Over the coming year, we will also look ahead
to our next three-year strategic plan. It will
be a challenge. Covid-19 will be with us for a
long time yet. We are committed to working
with our partners across the town - including
businesses and employers, major institutions
such as Reading University and the Royal
Berkshire Hospital, the voluntary sector and
our residents - to lead Reading’s recovery, to
bring our vision to life and to create a better
future for everyone in Reading.
We hope you will work with us to make this
vision a reality.
Jason Brock

In the face of an uncertain context, we have
chosen to create a one-year corporate plan
for 2021/22. We will tackle the immediate
challenges we face in ensuring our town
recovers from the Covid-19 pandemic, and we
will continue to make progress towards the

2

Page 24

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

Our town

4th

2ND
4th

Welcome to Reading
4th in the
country for
number of
2
businesses

Reading’s population is

161,780

1

4th highest
in terms
2
of wages

2nd
highest
for ‘good
3
growth’

However...

3rd most unequal
4
city in terms of wealth

77

spoken
in homes
across
languages Reading5

5 neighbourhoods are within
the 10% most deprived
in the country
6

Reading Borough
Council has reduced
its carbon footprint by

10%

7

with £13 million saved

rise in social care
referrals over the
last five years8

90%

of council maintained schools
10
rated good or outstanding...
...but 10.4% of young people are not
in education, employment or training
11
– above the national average

Difference in life expectancy
9
between most and least deprived areas

8 years

7.2 years

10,503
Covid-19 cases

Unemployment up
from 2.7% to 6.4%
12
Jan 2020 - Jan 2021

Footfall in Broad
Street down 66.4%
12
Feb 2020 - Feb 2021

Reading rated one of the cities
best placed for post-covid
economic recovery14

13

and 301 deaths 1 Mar 2020 - 1 Mar 2021

Page 25

ONS 2019 mid year estimate 2 Centre for Cities ‘Cities Outlook 2020’ 3 Demos-PWC Good Growth for Cities Index 2019 4 Centre for Cities, gini co-efficient 2017
ONS Census 2011 6 Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 7 Reading Borough Council 2008/09 – 2019/20 8 Reading Borough Council 9 Institute of Health Equity/PHE 2016-2018
10
Ofsted 11 DFE 2020 12 Reading UK 13 www.coronavirus.data.gov.uk 14 Irwin Mitchell, Nov 2020
1
5

3

Our vision
“To help Reading realise its potential – and
to ensure that everyone who lives and works
here can share the benefits of its success.”
In 2018, the Council came together with local
businesses, community groups and Reading University
to plan for Reading’s future. The result is the Reading
2050 Vision, an ambitious description of what Reading
can be; a city of green spaces, smart technology and
economic growth.
At Reading Borough Council we believe we can
help Reading realise its potential – and ensure that
everyone who lives and works here can share the
benefits of its success.
The Coronavirus pandemic has not changed this
vision. It may have changed how we go about making
a difference, and it may have made it more difficult.
But we still believe in Reading’s potential, and the
right of everyone who lives and works here to have a
stake in that future

Within the Council, we are
driven by the principles of
TEAM Reading:

Team

These principles underpin the way we work day-to-day,
and the major initiatives that are the foundation for
modern, cost effective services that will improve the lives
of local people set out in our themes on pages 6-9.

4

Page 26

We work as one team
with colleagues and
partners to deliver
great services.

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

Our foundations
These projects and ways of working underpin everything we do at the Council.
• People first: our customer experience strategy puts our customers at
the heart of service design and delivery, and we seek regular feedback
through consultations and our residents’ survey.  
• Digital transformation: both internally and externally, we’re
transforming how we work using the power of digital technology.
We’re modernising services and harnessing new technology to make it
easier for residents to interact with us. We’re improving our website,
streamlining processes and making more services available online.  
• Building self-reliance: we work with others to build the ability of
individuals and communities to solve their own problems and withstand
the shocks that come their way. We provide support to those who need
it – but our first priority is always to help people live independently for as
long as possible.  
• Getting the best value: we strive for value for money in everything we
do, and we are focussed on delivering the Council’s three-year Savings and
Investment Programme. But the best deal is not always the cheapest – it’s
the one that protects people, jobs, the environment and the budget. So we’re
also evolving our procurement policies to find the social value in all we do.
• Collaborating with others: we are stronger in partnership and we
collaborate with organisations from major corporations to local groups; with
the business sector, charities, education institutions, health and social care,
the police, faith groups, and the voluntary sector in Reading and across the
Thames Valley to achieve our vision for Reading. We will build on the work
done during the pandemic to consolidate partnerships and ensure a better
network and stronger funding streams to support the most vulnerable.

Efficient

Ambitious

We drive efficiency
and value for money
in everything
we do.

We are ambitious
in our plans and
in what we want
to achieve.

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

Page 27

Make a
difference
We are here to make
a difference to the
residents, communities
and businesses
of Reading.

5

Our themes
We’ve listened to what residents, businesses and partners have said about their experience
of Reading, and their hopes and aspirations for the town. In this year’s residents’ survey we
heard that residents are satisfied with how the Council runs services in Reading, but would like
to see more action taken on affordable housing, levels of crime, road conditions, congestion
and climate change. Through consultation on our major change initiatives – such as the
Local Transport Plan and the Climate Emergency Strategy – we know we have the support of
residents and partners to make the changes we all want to see.
We will make this change happen by focussing on three inter-connected themes:

Healthy
environment

Thriving
communities

Inclusive
economy

6

Page 28

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

Healthy environment
We are working towards a clean, safe town
that is easy to travel around, and where people
feel the benefits of clean air and active travel
like walking and cycling. A healthy environment
has a fundamental impact on the life of every
resident – making Reading a nicer, greener,
more attractive place to live, and having a
tangible impact on physical and mental health
and life expectancy. Locally we are investing in

walking, cycling, and public transport; tackling
congestion; increasing recycling rates; and
improving parks and open spaces. And at
a global level we are promoting the climate
ambitions of our residents, and of citizens
across the country and the world. Our plans
show a roadmap to a carbon neutral Reading by
2030, that will protect our residents now and in
the future.

We are:
Making it easy for
people to play their
part through the
choices they make
about their home,
their transport and
their waste

Committed to playing
our part in tackling
climate change and
working towards
our goal of a carbon
neutral town by 2030

Listening to feedback
from our residents’
survey and transport
consultations, and
making increased
investments in green
infrastructure

Key initiatives:
1. Reading Borough Council is a founding member and
host of the Reading Climate Change Partnership.
2. Our Climate Emergency Strategy sets out a roadmap and
investment towards a carbon neutral Reading by 2030.
3. Our Council Carbon Plan 2020-25 outlines a pathway
to an 85% cut in the Council’s emissions by 2025,
including energy saving in our buildings, a greener
vehicle fleet, and renewable energy initiatives.
4. Our Local Transport Plan outlines investments in
walking and cycling initiatives, public transport, and
electric vehicle infrastructure that will make it easier

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

for residents to make healthy choices, and feel the
benefits of clean, green neighbourhoods.
5. New weekly kerbside food waste collections, better
information on recycling, reduction in size of ‘residual
waste’ bins and increased enforcement will increase
recycling rates, leading to lower carbon emissions.
6. Working with the NHS, our new Health and Wellbeing
Strategy will tackle the issues residents tell us matter
the most, including more support for mental wellbeing
because of the pandemic.

Page 29

7

Thriving communities
It’s the people of Reading who make our town
an exciting and diverse place to live and work.
After the devastating attacks in Forbury Gardens
in June 2020, we saw people unite under the
idea of #ReadingTogether to embrace diversity
and community. We want to ensure that spirit
is carried into every aspect of life in Reading,
wherever people live and whatever their stage of
life. In public consultations and in our residents’

survey, people have told us what is important, and
we are prioritising the issues that matter – like
good quality affordable housing, better roads and
community safety. We will focus on the needs of
the most vulnerable, ensuring young people, older
people, those with long term health conditions or
disabilities and those most affected by Covid-19
get the help they need to live successful,
independent lives in vibrant, thriving communities.

We are:
Committed to
tackling inequality
in our society, to
ensure everyone has
an equal chance to
thrive whatever their
economic, social,
cultural, ethnic or
religious background

Investing in voluntary
and community
organisations,
building relationships
and strengthening
the capacity and
resilience of
the sector

Prioritising the
needs of the most
marginalised groups
and the most
vulnerable adults
and children in
our communities

Tackling the effects
of the pandemic,
such as increased
unemployment, long
term health problems,
mental health issues
and social isolation

Key initiatives:
1. We’re refreshing our Community Safety Strategy and
introducing a new Housing Strategy that outlines plans to
improve access to good quality housing (Council owned
or privately rented), to create safe, inclusive communities
with easy access to schools, services and green space.
2. We’re investing £2.3 million in 40 homes with intensive
support for people with a history of rough sleeping
and more than £30 million to improve adult social care
services, buildings and facilities.
3. The ‘home first’ approach in our Adult Social Care
Transformation Programme means residents can make
healthy choices, manage their condition and remain at
home for as long as possible.
4. Brighter Futures for Children’s business plan focuses
on earlier intervention, partnership work, local care
8

placements where possible, excellent teaching and
learning, and more local school places for children with
Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND).
5. Our leisure transformation programme will modernise
facilities and create accessible, affordable services to
improve the physical and mental health of residents.
6. To increase equality and inclusion within the Borough
we have appointed a diversity champion, signed
Business in the Community’s Race at Work Charter and
committed to working with others to promote social
inclusion at the Council and across Reading.
7. We’re working with families and communities affected
by the Forbury Gardens attacks to remember the event
and create a permanent memorial.

Page 30

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

Inclusive economy
We’re working towards a town where everyone
can access education, skills and training, good
jobs, and decent housing. An inclusive economy
isn’t measured in pounds and pence, with
wealth trickling down from the richest to those
at the bottom. An inclusive economy enhances
wellbeing and enables upward mobility,

with more opportunities for more people to
participate in the growth and success of the
town. We’re ensuring economic growth goes
hand-in-hand with achieving our climate goals,
by harnessing new technology and investing in
green infrastructure.

We are:

Creating education,
skills and training
opportunities

Investing in key
infrastructure to
keep Reading at the
forefront of advances
in technology

Building on our
cultural heritage to
enhance our tourist
industry, creating an
amazing place for
people to enjoy

Key initiatives:
1. Delivery of sustainable transport schemes
including Green Park Station, Reading West Station
improvements, and the final section of the National
Cycling Network 422.
2. Work with Reading UK to deliver the ‘Powered by
People’ economic recovery strategy, building back a
post-covid economy that is more inclusive, smarter and
more sustainable, and tackles local unemployment.
3. Invest in employment skills and training through
programmes such as KickStart and our new Skills
and Employment Youth Hub at The Curious Lounge,
Reading, run by Brighter Futures for Children, in
partnership with JobCentre Plus and others.

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

4. Invest in the culture and heritage of our town
including helping cultural venues recover after the
pandemic, celebrating the 900th anniversary of our
historic abbey, shaping the future of Reading Gaol
and enhancing our heritage with High Street Heritage
Action Zones.
5. Move Reading closer to being a ‘smart city’ through
programmes such as the ADEPT Live Labs initiative
and continued delivery of a £4.75 million grant trial to
help futureproof roads and transport.
6. Facilitate deployment and investment in superfast
broadband for all.

Page 31

9

Your services
We are committed to delivering high quality public services that meet customer needs and demonstrate
value for money. The themes outlined on pages 6-9 include major projects that drive the change we
want to see in Reading’s future, but the services we provide for residents today, and every day, are no
less important. We will continue to make services simpler, faster and better, including:
• Delivering Reading’s biggest ever road repair
scheme, a £9m investment in the quality of
local roads and pavements.

• Helping people live independently at home
for as long as possible and providing more
than 36,000 homecare hours per week.

• Maintaining more than 100 parks and open
spaces – mowing the grass, tending plants
and trees and maintaining equipment.

• Brighter Futures for Children (BFFC) provide
children’s social care, early help, fostering,
adoption, the Youth Offending service and
maintain more than 20 primary schools, as
well as working with all schools to improve the
educational prospects of young people.

• Looking after streets and neighbourhoods,
from emptying more than 18,800 bins a day
to maintaining 18,500 streetlights.
• Continuing to rewild open spaces and park
areas to enhance biodiversity and improve
our environment.
• Developing our library network to provide
innovative local services in person and online.
• Collaborating with partners to create a
cultural programme for the whole community
– including events, exhibitions and festivals
as well as celebrating the 900th anniversary
of our historic Abbey and shaping the future
of the Reading’s iconic Gaol.
• Providing housing advice and support to
prevent homelessness.
10

• Delivering high quality education and training
for adults through New Directions.
• Administering financial support from business
support grants to Council Tax support.
• Responding to 250,000 enquiries a year
through our customer fulfilment centre, from
Council Tax enquiries to housing repairs.
• Administering important life events with
around 8,000 registrations for births, deaths
and marriages every year. Supporting 2,200
families to say goodbye to loved ones
through our burials and cremation service.

Page 32

Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

Covid Response & Recovery
The ongoing Covid-19 pandemic means we are working in an uncertain context. As with any crisis,
the most vulnerable have been the hardest hit. We don’t yet know how quickly we will bring the
pandemic under control, how fast the economy will recover, the extent to which people will face
long term harm as a result, and the future impact on Council services. From the outset, our priority
has been to support the most vulnerable in our communities and to lay the groundwork for a
strong economic recovery and this work continues, including:
• Ensuring safe and effective working
conditions for Council staff, from technology
for those working from home, to providing
PPE and rapid testing to front line staff, to
providing wellbeing advice and support.

• Running a community testing programme
for essential workers across Reading and
working with the NHS to find venues for
testing and vaccination centres.

• Continuing essential services by retraining
and redeploying staff so that critical services
from personal care to bin collections keep
running smoothly.

• Implementing Government support schemes
such as business support grants and business
rates relief and, in partnership with Brighter
Futures for Children, free school meals and
winter fuel payments.

• Continuing to visit, call and support the most
vulnerable adults, children and their families,
and adapting our commissioning of Adult Social
Care services to meet the changing needs of
service user as a result of the Pandemic.

• Working with the Royal Berkshire Hospital,
Prospect Park Hospital, and Berkshire West
CCG to facilitate safe and timely hospital
discharges and create options that enable
people to return home.

• Hosting the One Reading Community Hub,
a collaboration between the Council and
voluntary sector partners to provide support
to the most vulnerable.

• Ensuring key messages are understood by all
local residents and businesses using audio,
video, written word and translated materials.

• Running a local contact tracing operation
to complement the NHS service, keeping
contact tracing rates above 80%.
Reading Borough Council Corporate Plan 2021/22

• Delivering the Local Outbreak Management
Plan to reduce transmission and the wider
impacts resulting from restrictions.

Page 33

11

We’ll know we’re successful when...
• Relationships between partners in the town – businesses, local institutions,
the voluntary sector and the Council – are strong and productive.
• Enough homes are being built to meet people’s needs, including
affordable houses.
• Our most vulnerable adults and children have the support they need.
• There is a reduction in the demand for children’s services from Early Help
and Social Care from Brighter Futures for Children.
• More people choose to walk, cycle and use public transport because it is
easy, safe and convenient and a greener more attractive alternative.
• Carbon emissions continue to fall, and we hit our climate milestones.
• Reading’s economy is recovering from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic,
it is more inclusive, and all local people can access the skills, training and
jobs they need.
• Measures of inequality between groups and communities – such as life
expectancy and unemployment - are declining, and the impacts of the Covid-19
pandemic are no longer affecting vulnerable groups disproportionately.
• Our residents tell us they are more satisfied with Reading as a place to live,
and with the services and value for money delivered by the Council.

Photo credits: p1 Stewart Turkington and Reading UK, p2 Chris Forsey, pp4-5 Stewart Turkington, pp6-7 Stewart Turkington, p8 Reading Borough
Page
34p12 Stewart Turkington, Reading Borough Council and Reading UK
Council, p9 Reading UK, p10 Stewart Turkington, p11 Reading Borough
Council,

Corporate Plan Appendix

Major Projects
and Initiatives

Page 35

Corporate Plan Appendix

Major Projects and Initiatives
This document provides an overview of the key projects and initiatives that will make
a significant contribution to driving the change we want to see in Reading through
our three themes: healthy environment, thriving communities and inclusive economy.
At the end of the document there are major initiatives which are driving
transformation of our foundations, day-to-day service delivery and our Covid
response and recovery.
These are the initiatives that we will monitor, measure and report on to track our
progress against our goals.
This list of projects does not cover every activity the Council undertakes - there
will be many smaller projects, change initiatives and day-to-day activities that are
important to residents and vital for our town. These are also measured, monitored
and tracked, however these are not all included here so that we can keep the focus
on the major change projects that will make the biggest difference.

2

Page 36

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Corporate Plan Appendix

Healthy Environment
Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Climate Emergency Strategy

Road Map to net zero Reading 2030

Our vision for 2025 is for a Reading
which is working rapidly towards:

• £34m investment to help deliver net
zero carbon Reading 2030

• Achieve a net zero carbon Reading
by 2030

• Net zero carbon dioxide emissions in
the Reading area by 2030

• Retro-fitting private and public
housing to low/no carbon standards

• Being better prepared to deal with
the impacts of a changing climate.

• Renewable electricity and heat, smart
energy technology, local energy
storage and connections to local
power grids

• Reading Borough Carbon Footprint
(kilotonnes of CO2 emissions)
• Improvement in NO2 in Air Quality
Monitoring Area (as measured annual
average concentration um3) over the
course of the plan

• Electric vehicle infrastructure and
scrappage of older vehicles
• More use of cycling, walking and
public transport
• Town centre district energy systems
to harness heat from local rivers/
watercourses
• Widespread deployment of groundsource and air-source heat pumps
• Local authority procurement powers
to drive the delivery of net zero
carbon strategies by suppliers of
third-party services
Council Carbon Plan 2020-2025
Deliver the Council’s commitments
as set out in the Reading Climate
Emergency Strategy 2020-25

Pathway towards a net zero carbon
Council by 2030
Our Carbon Plan is structured around
four key aims, led by the priorities
set out by the national Committee on
Climate Change:
• REDUCE - we will reduce our energy
demand through energy efficiency
measures, asset disposal and other
measures to reduce demand
• DECARBONISE – we will reduce
emissions from ongoing activities via
electrification of heating and vehicle
fleets including securing electric
refuse vehicles.

• Reduce the organisation’s carbon
emissions by 85% by 2025, against a
2008/9 baseline
• Generate equivalent to 50% of our
energy from renewable sources by 2025
• Reduce our use of fossil fuels by
50%, against a 2008/09 baseline
• 1st Electric refuse vehicle added to
the fleet by September 2021.
• Achieve a 5% p.a. reduction in water
use against a 2019/20 baseline

• GENERATE – we will install further
renewable energy capacity to meet a
higher proportion of our own needs
• SMART – we will align consumption
with generation, adopting new
technologies to help balance changing
patterns of supply and demand

3

Page 37

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Waste Strategy for
Household Waste:

Achieve 43.5% recycling rate by the
end of 21/22 following the £1.49 million
investment in new waste collection
services including:

• Reduce % municipal waste landfilled
to 16% by end of 21/22.

• Kerbside food waste collection to
73,000 properties by the end of 21/22

• Achieve recycling rate of 55% by 2025

The Way Forward

• Replace current 240l domestic waste
bins with 140l bins
• Increased Recycling educational activity
and Environmental Enforcement

• Achieve recycling rate of 43.5% by
end of 21/22
• Food Waste: Achieve 1.4kg per week
per participating household
• Food Waste: 50% plus households
participating (excluding Phase 2 High
Rise Flats)

• Process 3,000 tonnes of food waste
via anaerobic digestion, generating
energy for homes and producing
agricultural fertiliser.
• Reduction in contamination of
domestic mixed dry recyclingthirdparty services
Local Transport Plan
Deliver a sustainable transport
system in Reading that creates an
attractive, green and vibrant town with
neighbourhoods that promote healthy
choices and wellbeing

Future mobility options will enable
everyone in Reading to thrive, enjoy
an exceptional quality of life and
adapt to meet future challenges and
opportunities, including:

• Reduce annual car trips to the town
centre to 14% mode share by 2036

• New Local Transport Plan (LTP) for
Reading approved in 2021

• Increase annual public transport trips
to 48% mode share by 2036

• LTP sub-strategies, including EV
Charging Points and Public Rights of
Way, approved in 2021

• All local schools achieved Mode shift
STARS accreditation by 2036

• Increase annual active travel trips to
the town centre to 38% mode share
by 2036

• Active travel walking and cycling
schemes – tranche 2 schemes
delivered by Spring 2022
• On-going programme of network
management schemes including School
Streets initiatives and 20mph zones
• Publish an Electric Vehicle Strategy

Place Improvement projects
Roads, parks, community facilities and
heritage assets

• Improvements to play areas and park
environments

2019 to 2022

• £9 million on Reading’s biggest ever
investment in resurfacing roads and
pavements.

• Number of potholes filled

• Rewilding of verges and parks to
increase biodiversity
• Completion of £1.7m Community
Infrastructure Funded Community
projects.

• Number of potholes generated
• Kms of roads and pavements
resurfaced
• Hectares turned over to rewilding
• Consultation to complete in the
Spring with ongoing implementation
of schemes.

• Consultation on the allocation
of a further £1.2m and the
implementation of approved schemes

4

Page 38

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Commissioning effective smoking
cessation support and weight
management for Reading residents

Smoking remains the single greatest
cause of illness and premature death
in Reading. The gap in smoking rates
between the most and least well-off
remains too large meaning the impacts of
smoking are felt unequally in our town:

• Reduction in smoking prevalence
in adults in routine and manual
occupations (18- 64) – current
smokers – target 28%

• We are commissioning a new smoking
cessation service that will provide
targeted work to address illness and
premature death

• Reduction in the percentage of adults
(aged 18+) classified as overweight
or obese – target 58%

Being overweight or obese is linked to
a range of health problems and is the
largest health threat we face Borough
wide. The factors that lead to being
overweight are multiple and complex.
However, we know that increasing
physical activity is an important factor in
addressing this:
• We are working with our new Leisure
provider to ensure we are increasing
rates of physical activity in Reading
across all communities in our town

5

Page 39

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Corporate Plan Appendix

Thriving Communities
Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Housing Strategy 2020-2025 and
Housing initiatives

Delivering good quality sustainable
affordable homes in attractive, safe
and connected neighbourhoods,
improving existing homes, preventing
homelessness, supporting vulnerable
people to maintain their independence
at home, improving opportunities to
reduce inequality.

• Number of additional homes
completed per annum 689 as detailed
in the Local Plan

For all our residents to have the
opportunity to live in a good quality,
sustainable home they can afford, within
a thriving neighbourhood.

• Number of additional affordable
homes completed (includes council
homes through planning process)
264

The updated Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) for Reading in place provides
developers and land owners with
clear guidance on affordable housing
requirements from new developments
and seeks to maximise the supply of
affordable homes delivered in the town.
Delivering new good quality sustainable
council homes to meet a variety of needs:

6

• George Street - 4 homes

• Completion Summer 21

• Lyndhurst Road - 18 homes

• Completion Winter 21

• North Street - 37 homes

• Completion Spring 22

• Arthur Hill - 15 key worker homes

• Completion Autumn 22

• Wensley Road - 46 homes

• Start on site March 21

• Battle Street - 74 flats including
sheltered housing and older persons
day centre, 14 supported housing
flats and 6 family sized homes

• Phased completion to end 22

• Hexham Road - 36 sheltered housing
flats and support services and
respite centre for vulnerable adults
Accommodation

• Completion Summer 24

• Complete the final phase of Hexham
Road refurbishment and landscaping

• Spring 2021

• Improvements to Wensley Road
existing homes including new
windows, external surfaces, waste
facilities and new landscaping of the
external areas

• Completion Winter 22

• Reduce carbon footprint by
retrofitting heating systems

• Installation of 41 heat pumps
Phase 1 completion June 21
Phase 2 Sept 21

Page 40

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

• Review of Allocations Scheme
to promote sustainability of
neighbourhoods

• Consultation March 2021 Adoption
August 2021

• Develop social inclusion plans for the
most deprived areas co- ordinating
community activity to address
inequalities

• Completion Spring 2021

• Reduce fuel poverty with provision of
support to 250 households struggling
to keep their homes warm
• Deliver 40 homes with intensive
support to people with a history of
rough sleepers
• Continue to prioritise homelessness
prevention to reduce homelessness
in the borough focusing on early
intervention and prevention as
detailed in the Prevention of
Homelessness Strategy and Rough
Sleeping Delivery Plan

Other Housing Initiatives

Reading Community Safety
Partnership strategy
supporting targeted reduction of crime
and anti-social behaviour (ASB)

Equalities, Diversity and Inclusivity
Initiatives in Reading Borough

• No. of rough sleepers: annual
headcount 21/22 Target 10
• Total number of cases where positive
action was successful in preventing
homelessness Target 21/22 - 440
• Refreshed strategy in place Summer
2021

• Mandatory HMO Licensing
• Bring forward detailed business
case for public consultation on
discretionary HMO Licensing.
• Safeguard residents of high-rise flats by
implementing the compliance findings

• Increase percentage of Houses of
Multiple Occupation (HMO’s) licensed
under mandatory licensing schemes
Target 43%

• Refresh of Community Safety Strategy
incorporating the requirements in
relation to violence reduction.

• Autumn 2021

• 100% of tall buildings as defined by
the Government have been assessed.

• Serious Violence Steering Group and
plan in preparation and response to
the new Serious Violence Duty due to
be implemented in 2022

• Recruit and retain a workforce that
is representative of the communities
we serve
• Commissioned Business in the
Community (BITC) to review the
Council’s approach to Equality, Diversity
and Inclusion for our workforce and
make practical recommendations for
improvements from which we will
develop an Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion Action Plan

• Increase the % of BAME employees
in our workforce to at least reflect
the % of BAME people in the
economically active population of
Reading (23%)
• Reduce the Gender and Ethnicity Pay
Gap for the Council’s workforce to
below 5%

• Signed up to BITC’s Race at Work
Charter. In becoming a signatory of
the Charter, we have committed to
take practical steps to tackle racial
inequality in the workplace.

7

Page 41

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

• Publish annually a Workforce Equality
Audit, Gender Pay Gap Report and an
Ethnicity Pay Gap Report
• Work in partnership to identify and
deliver tangible actions to address
the challenges of equality, diversity
and inclusion faced by communities in
accessing culture and funding.

• Establish partnership Q2
• Co-create roadmap Q3
• Identify actions Q4
• Delivery Q4 into 22-23

• Highlight Reading’s diverse arts,
culture and heritage including Black
History Month, Black History Mural &
Reading Carnival.

• Establish partnership group to
provide advice and assistance to the
Carnival Organising Committee

• Support the Carnival Organising
Committee to prepare for a successful
Carnival in 2022

• Spring 22

• Completion Autumn 21

• Participatory Research to be carried
out in relation to the lived experience
of diverse communities in the borough
• Action Plan in place to improve
community engagement mechanism
across diverse communities with
specific co-produced actions to
mitigate inequality as identified in
the Ethnicity Profile and Participatory
Research Project with clear targets
and milestones

Deliver the BFfC Business Plan 21/22

BFfC Business Plan priorities for 2021-22:
• Priority 1: Deliver transformation of
services in all areas of the company to
ensure continuous improvement and
better outcomes for our children and
young people

• Specific timelines and measures are
included in the BFfC Business Plan

• Priority 2: Make optimal use of
resources, deliver best value and scope
opportunities for external funding and
income generation to maximise our
impact for children and young people
• Priority 3: Complete end-to-end
process mapping and develop and
embed a demand management
approach for all services
• Priority 4: Implement and embed the
Early Help approach securing active
commitment of community partners
• Priority 5: Support education providers
to give our children and young people
the best start and to promote excellent
teaching and learning, especially for
those with SEND
• Priority 6: Focus on building a stable
workforce of permanent staff

8

Page 42

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

To achieve our priorities and futureproof
our work, BFfC must, in tandem, deliver
the following enabling objectives:
• Develop agile ways of working
including increased use of
digitalisation; and
• Engage actively in contract monitoring
with Reading Borough Council to seek
best possible value for money and
quality of service.
Adults Transformation Programme
Residents have access to information,
advice and signposting to preventative
services that enable them to make
healthy life choices and manage their
lives independently and remain at home
for as long as possible. When people
need to access our services, they receive
a timely and proportionate response to
meet their eligible needs.

9

Priority 1 Prevention Programme
• Technology Enabled Care: Design,
implement and transition to an
enhanced Technology Enabled Care
(TEC) service that delivers savings,
through innovation, development of
digital services and increased usage of
TEC as a preventative approach.
Priority 2 Service Development
• Advice & Wellbeing Hub Expansion:
To build on the voluntary sector pilot
working in the front door and further
develop the prevention offer for ASC
which will maximise independence and
reduce reliance on ongoing support
• Discharge to Assess & Community
Reablement: To improve and expand
the offer to all Adults to maximise
recovery and independence thus
reducing the need for ongoing care
and support.
Priority 3 Young People Programme
• Transitions: Design and implement
pathways in partnership with Brighter
Futures for Children to include
identifying future needs Analysis,
securing joint commissioning
opportunities whilst developing new
services and looking at the role of
Housing in Transition for 14+ olds.
Priority 4 Service Delivery Programme
• DACHS Asset Review: To review Adult
Social Care in-house services to ensure
modernised, sustainable services to
protect and enhance the lives of the
most vulnerable Adults in Reading
• Personal Assistant Market Development:
To develop a sustainable, diverse
and robust Personal Assistant (PA)
marketplace to provide care and
support for residents as an alternative
to Council arranged services

Page 43

• Increase in number of people
in receipt of TEC more than 30
TEC Turnkey Assessments to be
completed each month

• 85% of new people who contact
social care have their needs met
without a long-term service after
initial support
• Decrease the permanent new
admissions to Residential or Nursing
care per 100,000 population for
Older People (65+) - 432 per
100,000 population

• Increase the number of service users
(Adults) receiving direct payments
from 20% to 22%

• Increase the number of service user
reviews completed annually from
67% to 70%

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

• Promoting Independence (Outcome
Based Working): Use a variety
of techniques which promote
independence (primarily review &
right-sizing) to secure savings whilst
also trialling “outcome-based service
delivery” with select providers and
social care workers, to assess its
capacity to deliver further savings.
• Day Services Review: A review of day
services is undertaken with a view to
developing a commissioning framework
to ensure best value. Alongside this
a review as to the quantity of day
services provided across services users
to ensure equity of provision.

Development and implementation
of a school places strategy that
futureproofs the needs of all children
and young people in Reading

Transforming leisure services

10

New School and Special educational
needs provision:
• To continue to work with the DfE on
the delivery of The River Academy
- a new 8 form secondary and
sixth form school due to be open in
September 2023.
• To deliver a new £9m investment
programme for Hamilton School to
provide accommodation for children
with special educational needs by
Easter 2022
• Explore the reuse of The Avenue
offices to provide additional
accommodation and places available
by Sept 2022
• Deliver a new school in partnership
with Wokingham Borough Council
due to be open Sept 2022
• Development of a strategy and
that schools commit to a shared,
ambitious vision and detailed plan.
• Schools regularly engaged
in collaborative, school-led
improvement.
• Schools are removed from the
category “causing concern”

• Standards in top quartile in England

Work with the council’s new leisure
service provider to deliver enhanced
leisure facilities and activities that increase
participation levels in physical activity and
respond to the effects of covid19.

• Levels of activity - active at least 150
minutes per week (Active Lives Survey)

Invest £35 million in modern and
new leisure facilities, including the
replacement of Rivermead Leisure
Centre and a new community pool at
Palmer Park.

• Contract signed - Spring 2021

Page 44

• Percentage improvement in standards
of vulnerable learners Increased
• Percentage of schools rated good or
outstanding
• Key Stage 4 results (Attainment 8) gap in attainment for disadvantaged
pupils
• Key Stage 2 results (Reading, Writing,
Maths expected level+) - gap in
attainment for disadvantaged pupils
• Reduction in Secondary Fixed Term
exclusions

• Start on site - Summer 2021
• New Palmer Park opens - Autumn 2022
• New Rivermead opens - Spring 2023

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Maximising the effectiveness of our
partnerships with the voluntary and
community Sector

Undertake a review of emerging
community needs following the pandemic
and re-engage our VCS partners.

• Review complete June 21

• Strategic review of current
relationships and areas of work with
the VCS
• Analysis to identify where we can build
and invest in our relationships with the
VCS to deliver priority outcomes
• Develop a new Volunteering Strategy
• Commission services inline with the
new operating model

• Commissioning model implemented
June 22

• Procurement for new Cremator
to replace existing cremators and
temporary arrangements to provide
resilience during the pandemic
• Implementing a Customer Champion
within the service to manage and
liaise with service users
• Implement new ways of working to
support community needs

Milestone reporting for capital
programme
• Procurement Start April

• Work in partnership to implement the
memorialisation and commemoration
plans to develop a permanent
memorial and deliver commemorative
activities for the victims and all those
harmed by the attack in Forbury
Gardens on 20 June 2020.

• First anniversary commemoration
event 20 June 2021

Providing a resilient and customer
focused Bereavement Service

Forbury Gardens incident

11

Page 45

• Volunteering Strategy implemented
by Summer 21

• Contract Awarded
• Demolition of old Cremator
• Go-live Commissioning of new
cremator December

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Corporate Plan Appendix

Inclusive Economy
Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Major Transport Schemes

Delivery of the following programme of
sustainable transport schemes:

• Increase annual bus usage by 25%
to 27.8m trips by 2036

• Delivery of the final section of the
National Cycle Network (NCN) 422
route by Spring 2021.

• Increase annual park & ride usage by
100% to 1.1m trips by 2036

• Continued delivery of phase 4 of
South Reading Mass Rapid Transport
by Summer 2021

• Increase annual rail usage by 25% to
23.5m trips by 2036

• Complete Green Park station by
Summer 2021
• Complete Reading West Station
Upgrade by Spring 2022
• Secure external funding for future
sustainable transport schemes

Thames Valley Berkshire ADEPT
Live Labs Project
The project uses existing roads data
and enhances it with complementary
information to create an inclusive
customer focused (mobility) service.

Town centre regeneration

12

• Enhanced sources of road based data
fused with mobility data from O2.
• Combining public health data to
break down barriers and to influence
and encourage behavioural change.
• Real time and historical data will
inform transport, environment and
planning projects throughout Thames
Valley region.
• Study the use of Electric Vehicles
(EVs) and how to support them
including integration into building/
property energy management.

•

• Production of a Town Centre Strategy
to provide a clear and joined up
approach to regenerating and
developing Reading’s town centre. The
strategy will support the delivery of
sustainable, socially inclusive growth
• Progression of the redevelopment of
the former Civic Centre site

• Autumn 2021

Page 46

Air quality data manipulation by UoR
spring/summer 2021

• Successful launch of O2 insights
platform summer 2021
• Assessment of commercial
opportunities winter 2021
• Improved mobility/carbon reduction
information/promotion/evaluation
spring 2022

• Agree delivery model and commence
marketing of the site - Autumn 2021.

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Powered by People Strategy

• Aims to build back an economy that
is more inclusive, smarter and more
sustainable, and to continue to raise the
profile of Reading as a great place to
live, work, enjoy, visit and do business
• Actions arising from the strategy
include kickstart, green recovery
initiatives, skills training and cultural
sector recovery.

• Percentage of people aged 16 - 64
who are economically active

• Deliver KickStart programme
• Continued development and
implementation of Employment
and Skills Plans to improve job
opportunities
• Supporting Young People into
adulthood (transitions)
• Agree and commence delivery of the
new Cultural Education Partnership
plan 2020-2024.

• Reduction in percentage of
care leavers Not in Education,
Employment or Training (NEET)

• Future direction for libraries
based around the Central Library
development.
• Work in partnership to further the
community and council ambitions
for Reading Gaol within the wider
context of the Abbey Quarter and
national and international arts,
culture and heritage opportunities.
• Reading 2021 Anniversary activities,
including the Reading Abbey 900
anniversary celebrations.
• Develop legacy actions from Reading:
Place of Culture project and produce
financially sustainable delivery plan.
• Work with strategic leaders of
Reading’s creative industries to
identify how best to support and
facilitate the recovery of Reading’s
creative industries post covid19.
• Deliver the High Street Heritage
Action Zones project objectives.
• Agree a framework for the
programming of events and
engagement activities throughout
2021 in the borough’s parks and
open spaces.
• Initiate a wide ranging conversation
with communities and partners about
shaping the future three year delivery
plan 2022-25 for Reading’s Culture
and Heritage Strategy.

• Vision for Reading Gaol site created
by Summer 2021.

Reading CIC Economic growth and
Recovery 2020 to 2024

Employment and skills training

Cultural Placemaking

13

Page 47

• Number of work experience
placements
• Number of local jobs created
• Register a further 10 schools for
Artsmark by 2024.

• Waterfest delivered summer 2021.
• Abbey 900 events delivered in 2021.
• Increased participation at Council
Cultural Venues (Town Hall &
Museum, Hexagon, South Street)
(year on year increase)

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Superfast Broadband

Programme to facilitate deployment of
high-quality, reliable digital connectivity
so that communities can benefit from
faster economic growth and greater
social inclusion
• Facilitate deployment and
investment by providers in next
generation infrastructure including
full fibre and 5G
• Intervention in roll out of Broadband
where providers are not willing to
supply superfast connectivity to
areas of the borough

Ongoing
• Percentage of Homes with access
to superfast (at least 30Mbps)
connections where providers would
not otherwise be supplying broadband

14

Page 48

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Corporate Plan Appendix

Foundations
Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Deliver 3-year savings plan

• Deliver the councils overall 3-year
savings plan via efficiencies, invest
to save schemes and increased
income generation

The 3-year savings targets across
2021/22-2023/24 per directorate are:
• Adult Care & Health Services £9.0m
• Economic Growth & Neighbourhood
Services £9.7m
• Resources £2.3m
• Corporate £0.9m
• Children’s Services (BFfC) £6.1m
Total £28.0m

Implementation of new financial
system and ways of working

Implementation of the Customer
Experience Programme

15

The Finance transformation programme
oversees:

• Training programme for service
managers (Number of staff trained)

• The implementation of business process
redesign, to support service managers
improve financial management
• Procurement and implementation of
a new financial system

• Implement finance system by
November 2021

The Customer Experience Strategy is a
4-year programme focusing on:
• Implementation of a customer
Fulfilment operating Model covering
25 new service areas of the council
where self service becomes the
primary channel for customers to
access our services
• Harnessing new digital enabling
tools to support the automation
of processes, such as robotic
processing automation and
corporate booking systems
• Using data intelligence and insight
to inform service design, define a
new data strategy and supporting
services to develop data dashboards
• Website continuous content review:
Ensure web content is relevant, up
to date and accessible across all
service areas of the website
• Achieving circa £1.5million savings
over 3 years.

• Number of services transitioned to
the new model

Page 49

• Number of new services achieving
the national customer services
accreditation
• Improve customer satisfaction
• Increase number of Transactions
completed via through My Account/
Self Serve
• Reduction in failure demand
• Progress against continuous content
review project plan

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Digital Strategy development and
implementation

Develop and implement Digital
Transformation strategy
Strategy aims:
• To work better with our customers,
our partners and ourselves using
new service delivery channels; giving
great customer experience; reducing
costs; collaborating effectively; and
changing working practices to drive
efficiencies and streamline delivery.
• To work smarter with data sources
and intelligence to inform policy,
strategy, operations and casework.
• To drive inclusive digital growth
through collaborating locally,
identifying potential for change,
connecting citizens, tackling the
causes of digital exclusion, and
reinforcing Reading’s digital brand.
• To embrace lean innovation at
pace, relentlessly focusing on
rigorously prioritised benefits and
experimentation.
• To consolidate and maintain ICT
service control, including security,
availability, performance and value.

• Adoption of new Strategy

Driving social value through our
contracts and procurement

16

Implement Social Value Strategy
and reporting
• Create baseline of key metrics such
as local employment and carbon
reduction plans in place with
existing contracts
• Inclusion of social value in contracts
to be procured in 2021
• Annual report to members to
provide overall social value secured
and delivered

Page 50

• Implementation of milestones
defined in strategy
• Progress against benefits realisation
targets set by strategy

• March/ April 2021

• From Jan 2021 ongoing
• November 2021

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Propose new Council Tax
Support Scheme

Propose new Council tax support scheme
• Refine CTS modelling to determine
options (May/June 21)
• Publish Consultation on options
(Summer 21)
• Consult with key stakeholders
(Summer 21)
• Review Consultation Feedback
(Autumn 21)
• Make amendments subject to
consultation (Autumn 21)
• Publish Final Proposal in Policy
Committee Report (January 22) with
Policy Committee Recommending
Final Scheme to Council
• Software Changes start to be made
to Test Environment (January 22)
• Testing on the system (January 22)
• CTRS Scheme sent to MHCLG by
31/01/22
• Council Tax Set / Budget Setting at
Council (February 22)
• Bills issued reflecting revised CTS
Scheme (March 22)
• Formally Implement Change
01/04/22

• Milestone Reporting per details

17

Page 51

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Corporate Plan Appendix

COVID Response and Recovery
Initiative

Details

Timeline and targets

Local Contact Tracing

• Plan for the expansion of Local
Contact Tracing as the service
becomes more localised.

• Contact Tracing rate over 80%

• Ensure the sustainability of the service
Community Lateral Flow Testing

• Deliver Community Lateral Flow
test facilities

• February 2021

Provide Support for NHS Mass
Vaccination programme

• Identify support requirements
• Ensure ongoing support for
the delivery of the vaccination
programme, including engagement
with vaccine hesitant communities

• February 2021

Distribution of grants, funding and
schemes to support residents and
businesses impacted by Covid 19

• Mandatory and discretionary grants
to businesses
• Funding support to the third sector
• Technology support for vulnerable
children
• Food voucher schemes

• Numbers/£’s delivered

One Reading Community Hub

• Sustained activity with the voluntary
and community sector to provide
support to those most in need

• Numbers who access the service

Covid Secure Compliance

• Work with partners to ensure that
businesses and facilities are covid
secure to support a safe return to
‘normal’

• Percentage of businesses
compliant with Covid Secure
guidelines by sector

18

Page 52

• Numbers of tests

• Percentage of adult population
vaccinated

Corporate Plan Appendix Major Projects and Initiatives

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
fREADING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES
TO:

COUNCIL

DATE:

23 MARCH 2021

TITLE:

COUNCILLORS’ ALLOWANCES SCHEME 2020/21 – 2022/23

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

COUNCILLOR BROCK

PORTFOLIO:

LEADERSHIP

SERVICE:

COUNCILLOR
SERVICES

WARDS:

BOROUGHWIDE

LEAD
OFFICER:
JOB TITLE:

MIKE GRAHAM

TEL:

0118 9372153

ASSISTANT
DIRECTOR, LEGAL
AND DEMOCRATIC
SERVICES

E-MAIL:

michael.graham@reading.gov.uk

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

The Council on 25 June 2019 considered a review of the Councillors’ Allowance Scheme
for the financial year 2020/21 which had been undertaken by the Independent
Remuneration Panel (the Panel). As part of that review the Panel recommended that
the Special Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) be increased to bring the rate broadly up
to the Berkshire Average. It also recommended that the Basic Allowance (BA) and the
SRAs be increased at the beginning of each new financial year in accordance with the
Local Government Pay Settlement (LGPS) for the period of the scheme (ie the
subsequent three years to 1 April 2022). In addition, the Panel recommended that
Dependant Carers’ Allowance, which is available to councillors to cover the cost of
looking after dependants, whilst they are undertaking approved duties on behalf of the
Council, should be increased in line with the ‘Real Living Wage’.

1.2

On the basis of the Panel’s full review in 2019/20, the Council adopted a revised
scheme, which came into effect on 1 October 2019. In 2020 the BA and SRAs were
increased by 2.75%, in line with the LGPS.

1.3

In Autumn 2020 the Panel was asked to consider offering payment of a Tier 4 SRA, or
payment commensurate with just below Tier 4, to councillors who were members of
the following Committees/Panels: Licensing Applications Committee(s), Planning
Applications Committee and Fostering/Adoption/ Parenting Panel. This was a discrete
area of the scheme and no other modifications to the scheme were sought.

1.4

The Panel’s recommendations are attached at Appendix A. In summary, the Panel
recommended that a Tier 4 SRA be paid to the Council’s representative (currently one)
on the Fostering Panel. It recommended no change in respect of the other committees
set out above but did suggest that the possibility of appointing an additional vice-chair
Page 55

to the Licensing Applications Committee(s), as they had recommended as part of the
comprehensive review of allowances in 2019, could be reconsidered by the Council.
2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Councillors’ Allowances Scheme, as set out in Appendix B to the report,
which included minor revisions recommended by the Independent Remuneration
Panel, be adopted.

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

The Council on 25 June 2019 agreed a scheme for Councillors’ Allowances for 2019/20,
with the following features:
(i)

The total amount to be spent on Councillors’ Allowances be £550,000;

(ii)

The level of basic allowance to be paid to each councillor be £8,220 per annum.

(iii)

That the remaining £171,875 be spent on special responsibility allowances (SRA)
to be paid at the following levels to the office holders as specified below:

(iv)

Office Holder

Level of SRA pa

Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader of the Council
Tier 1 to be paid to the Lead Councillors
Tier 2 to be paid to the Leader of the main opposition
group and the Chairs of Licensing Applications
Committee and Planning Applications Committee
Tier 3 to be paid to the Chairs of Committees (except
the Chair of the Appeals Committee), and Group
Leaders of the other political groups
Tier 4 to be paid to the Vice-Chairs of Committees
and the Independent Person appointed in
accordance with Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011
to carry out the functions specified in that Act in
relation to the Members’ Code of Conduct and Local
Standards Committee

£18,500
£11,300
£9,500
£6,076
£3,039
£1,074

Councillors may claim for the cost of a carer to look after children or disabled or
elderly dependant relatives whilst undertaking approved duties on behalf of the
Council as follows:


Up to £9 per hour for childcare, up to 15 hours per week;



Up to £9 per hour for the carer of a disabled or elderly dependant relative
(including a disabled child), up to 15 hours per week;

and provided that the above claims were supported by a signed receipt from the
carer confirming the hours and amount claimed and that the carer was not a
Page 56

close relative. These allowances are taxable. The scheme contains a list of
approved duties.
3.2

In 2020 the allowances were increased by 2.75%, in line with the LGPS. The current
rates payable are as follows:
Office Holder
Basic Allowance
Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader of the Council
Tier 1
Tier 2
Tier 3
Tier 4

3.3

3.4

Level of SRA pa
£8,447.08
£19,008.75
£11,610.75
£9,761.25
£6,243.09
£3,123.57
£1,103.54

The Council, on 13 November 2001, convened an independent Remuneration Panel to
review the scheme for Councillors’ Allowances and to make recommendations for a
scheme of allowances to include:
i)

the amount of basic allowance to be paid to all Councillors;

ii)

the duties in respect of which Councillors should receive a special responsibility
allowance, and the amount of such an allowance;

iii)

allowances for the care of children or dependants.

The Remuneration Panel was set up to include at least three and no more than five
independent members appointed to represent stakeholders of the Council. Its current
membership is:





Francis Connolly – member with experience of the local voluntary sector
and local business
Linda Fort – member with experience of the local media
Mick Pollek – member with experience of the local trade union
movement
Lady Audrey Durant – member with experience of the local voluntary sector

4.

THE PROPOSAL

4.1

The Panel met on 25 November 2020 and 16 December 2020. Its recommendations are
set out in Appendix A. The Panel’s recommendations are reflected in the updated
scheme attached at Appendix B.

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The provision for the payment of allowances to Councillors gives local authorities the
scope to set allowances schemes to suit local needs and to help ensure that Councillors
are not financially disadvantaged in serving as elected Members.

Page 57

6.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

6.1

South East Employers conducts an annual survey of members’ allowances that provides
benchmarking data. The Panel was provided with a copy of South East Employers
Members’ Allowances Survey 2019-2020 which shows a comparison of the level of
allowances in Reading with other comparable authorities.

7.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the exercise of
its functions, have due regard to the need to—
 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;
 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;
 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

7.2

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is not relevant to this decision.

8.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

8.1

Not relevant to this report.

9.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

The Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities to set up and maintain an
independent Remuneration Panel to make recommendations to the authority
concerning the allowances to be paid to councillors.

9.2

Any decision to amend, revoke or replace an allowances scheme will have to be taken
by the Authority having regard to the recommendations of the Panel. This will apply to
the Council’s current scheme, which will expire on 31 March 2022.

9.3

The Council may not delegate this function to a Committee or to an officer. The Council
has to take all decisions relating to the adoption of its Scheme of Councillors’
Allowances.

10.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The 2021/22 budget for Members’ Allowances is currently £550,000, subject to final
confirmation of the Local Government Pay Settlement for 2021/22.

10.2

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy includes a provision for the base budget to be
increased in line with the Local Government Pay Settlement.

10.3

These costs will be reviewed annually as part of the Council’s budget setting process.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

None

Page 58

Appendix A

REPORT OF THE INDENDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL APPOINTED TO REVIEW THE
ALLOWANCES PAID TO COUNCILLORS OF READING BOROUGH COUNCIL FOR 2021/2022
FOR SUBMISSION TO COUNCIL ON 23 MARCH 2021
Background
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 provide for the
payment of Allowances to Members of the Council in connection with their work as Councillors.
Before the Council can make or amend a scheme of allowances, it should consider the
recommendations made in relation to it by an Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP).
The Council, on 13 November 2001, set up an Independent Remuneration Panel to review
annually the Council’s scheme for Councillor’s Allowances. The Local Government (Local
Authority Members in England) Regulation 2003, stated that Independent Remuneration Panels
established by local authorities should make recommendations for a scheme of allowances to
include:




The amount of basic allowance (BA) to be paid to all Councillors;
The duties in respect of which Councillors should receive a special responsibility
allowance (SRA), and the amount of such an allowance.
Allowances for the care of children or dependants.

The Independent Remuneration Panel
The Remuneration Panel’s current membership is as follows:
 Francis Connolly – member with experience of the local voluntary sector and local
business
 Lady Audrey Durant – member with experience of the local voluntary sector
 Linda Fort - member with experience of the local media
 Mick Pollek – member with experience of the local trade union movement
The Panel was supported by the following council officers:



Michael Popham (Democratic Services Manager)
Jenny Hazell (Committee Services)

Background
In 2019/20 the Panel undertook a full review of the scheme. As part of that review, the Panel
recommended that the BA and the SRAs should be increased at the beginning of each new
Page 59

financial year in accordance with the Local Government Pay Settlement (LGPS). It also
recommended that the carers allowance, which is available to councillors to cover the cost of
looking after dependants, whilst they are undertaking approved duties on behalf of the
Council, should be increased in line with the ‘Real Living Wage’ to £9.30. The review was
reported to Council on 25 June 2019 when it accepted that recommendation. The new scheme
came into effect on 1 October 2019.
In 2020 the BA and SRAs were increased in line with the LGPS.
Terms of Reference for the Review
In Autumn 2020 the Panel was asked to consider offering payment of a Tier 4 SRA, or payment
commensurate with just below Tier 4, to councillors who were members of the following
Committees/Panels: Licensing Applications Committee(s), Planning Applications Committee
and Fostering/Adoption/ Parenting Panel. This was in recognition of the additional and timeconsuming work that was required by councillors who were members of these
Committees/Panels.
The Panel met via Microsoft Teams on 25 November 2020. Councillor Brock and Councillor Page
also attended the meeting and provided further information on the above meetings to assist
the Panel’s deliberations.
The Panel was provided with the following information in advance of the meeting:





A copy of the Council’s current Members’ Allowance Scheme
South East Employers Members’ Allowances Survey 2019-2020
The remuneration of Councillors in London 2018 – report of the independent panel
A spreadsheet showing the allowances payable to each Reading Borough Councillor
for 2019-20

The Panel then had an initial discussion about the proposal. It noted the difficulties in getting
a wider pool of councillors to serve on committees such as Licensing, Fostering/Adoption/
Parenting Panel. It was also informed that the paperwork for meetings such as the Licensing
Committee and the Fostering Panel was high, necessitating further time to read the material
in advance of the meeting. The Panel agreed to seek further information to assist in reaching
its final recommendations, including information about the work commitment of these
committees and a comparison with other committees.
The Panel met again via Microsoft Teams on 16 December 2020. In advance of the meeting the
Panel was provided with a report entitled ‘Meeting statistics’. The report listed the number
of Planning Applications Committee meetings, Licensing Applications Sub-Committee meetings
(1, 2 and 3) and Parenting Panel during the period 1 April 2019 to 30 November 2020, the
duration of each of the meetings, the number of reports to each meeting and the total number
of pages for the reports. The same data was available for Policy Committee and Traffic
Management Sub-Committee.
The report also provided some information on the Adoption Panel – which is currently run by
a regional adoption agency called Adopt Thames Valley, in partnership with seven local
authorities, including Reading. The Panel was advised that there is currently no Reading
councillor representative on this Panel.
Finally, the report provided some information about the Fostering Panel, which had been
provided by Councillor Deborah Edwards, current Council representative on the Panel.
Councillor Edwards attended the meeting on 16 December 2020 and provided further
Page 60

information about the work involved on the Fostering Panel. The Panel was informed that the
Fostering Panel meetings are scheduled regularly throughout the year with an average
attendance of around three meetings every month. The meetings cover either new cases or
review of fostering arrangements with up to 3 or 4 cases per meeting. The reports (some 500
pages for a new case) need to be read in advance of the meeting. Councillor Edwards
described the training she is required to undertake on a regular basis, and the time
commitment involved, as a member of the Fostering Panel. She also answered questions put
to her by the Panel about the work of the Licensing Committees, including the extent of the
paperwork that needs to be read in advance of the meeting. She then left the meeting.
The Panel considered that the information before it indicated that there was a great deal of
time and effort required the Councillor representative on the Fostering Panel in carrying out
their statutory duty. In the Panel’s view, the time spent reading, preparing for the meeting
and the ongoing commitment for regular training is such that a Tier 4 SRA should be paid. The
Panel therefore recommends that a Tier 4 SRA should be paid to the Council’s representative
(currently one) on the Fostering Panel. It also recommends that consideration be given to the
Council nominating another representative on the Fostering Panel so that the workload can be
shared between two Councillors.
The Panel considered carefully the request for a Tier 4 SRA payment or a payment
commensurate with just below Tier 4, to councillors who are members of Licensing
Applications Committee(s), Planning Applications Committee and Parenting Panel. The Panel
took into account the average length of the meetings held between 1 April 2019 to 30
November 2020, the nature of the meetings, the total number of pages of reports per meeting
and the differing responsibilities for councillors attending these meetings. The Panel bore in
mind that some of the Licensing Committees are held in the day. While the Panel
acknowledged that the work undertaken by these Committees are important, sometimes
involving deliberating on matters late into the evening, it did not consider these duties to be
sufficiently demanding in terms of time commitment such as to warrant the payment of an
SRA. The Panel, in comparing the total number of pages of report per meeting of these
committees with that of other committees such as Policy Committee and Traffic Management
Sub-Committee, considered that the workload did not appear to be excessive and would fall
within the normal expectation of a Councillor’s duty, acting in the public interest. Further,
while acknowledging the difficulties in securing councillors’ attendance at licensing meetings,
the Panel did not consider that payment of an SRA should be used to act as an incentive for
Councillors to attend the meeting
The Panel did suggest that the possibility of appointing an additional vice-chair to the Licensing
Applications Committee, as they had recommended as part of the comprehensive review of
allowances in 2019, could be reconsidered by the Council.
The Panel noted that there is currently no Council representative on the Adoption Panel and
therefore did not make any recommendations regarding payment of an SRA for this activity.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
RECOMMENDATIONS OF REMUNERATION PANEL
The Panel recommends that a Tier 4 SRA be paid to the Council’s representative (currently one)

on the Fostering Panel. It also recommends that consideration be given to the Council
nominating another representative on the Fostering Panel so that the workload can be shared
between two Councillors. It has decided not to recommend any other modifications to the
Councillors’ Allowance Scheme for 2021-22.
The Panel recommends that the Councillors’ Allowance Scheme adopted from 1 April 2021 be
as follows:
(1)

That, for 2021-22, the total sum for the payment of Basic and Special Responsibility
Allowances to councillors remain at the same level as set for 2020-21 at £550,000 (subject
to confirmation of the Local Government Pay Settlement for 2021/22);

(2)

That, within this total sum, the provision for the payment of Basic Allowance to all
councillors be set at £378,125 (subject to being increased in line with the Local
Government Pay Settlement for 2021/22); and the Basic Allowance paid to individual
councillors be set at £8,447.08 a year.

(3)

That the Special Responsibility Allowances payments be as follows:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

the
the
the
the
the
the

amount
amount
amount
amount
amount
amount

paid
paid
paid
paid
paid
paid

to
to
to
to
to
to

the Leader to be £19,008.75;
the Deputy Leader to be £11,610.75;
SRA Tier 1 to be £9,761.25;
SRA Tier 2 to be £6,243.09;
SRA Tier 3 to be £3,123.57;
SRA Tier 4 to be £1,103.54.

No councillor shall receive more than one Special Responsibility Allowance;
(4)

That the existing categorisation of tiers should remain unchanged, as follows:



Tier 1 to be paid to the Lead Councillors;
Tier 2 to be paid to the Leader of the main opposition group and the Chairs of
Licensing Applications Committee and Planning Applications Committee;
1

Page 63



Tier 3 to be paid to the Chairs of Committees (except the Chair of the Appeals
Committee), and Group Leaders of the other political groups;



Tier 4 to be paid to the Vice-Chairs of Committees, the Independent Person
appointed in accordance with Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 to carry out the
functions specified in that Act in relation to the Members’ Code of Conduct and
Local Standards Committee. 2003.

(5)

That in addition to the categories set out in tier 4 above, tier 4 SRA be paid to the
Council’s representative(s) on the Fostering Panel.

(6)

That the 2021-22 arrangements for the payment of Dependant Carers’ Allowance be
raised by a cost of living increase of 2.75%, paid in line with the real living wage, as
follows:
(a)
(b)

Up to £9.50 per hour for childcare for up to 15 hours a week
Up to £9.50 per hour towards the cost of a care attendant for an elderly or
disabled relative (including a disabled child) for up to 15 hours a week

The person providing the care may not be a close relative defined as spouse, partner
(opposite or same sex cohabitees), parents, children, brothers, sisters, grandparents
and grandchildren. The paid care attendant must sign a receipt to show that they have
cared for the dependant during the hours claimed for;
(7)

That, subject to (9) below, the level of subsistence allowances, with the exception of
overnight subsistence, remain the same as officers receive. The allowances are
currently:
Subsistence
 Breakfast allowance
 Lunch allowance
 Tea allowance
 Evening meal allowance
 Overnight subsistence

(8)

That the level of travel allowances be set as the same as officers receive, as follows:





(9)

£8.26
£11.41
£4.52
£14.13
£82.21 a day outside London
£93.77 a day in London or at LGA Annual
Conferences

Travel by councillor’s own motor vehicle – 45 pence per mile
Travel by councillor’s own bicycle – 37 pence per mile
Travel by councillor’s own motorcycle – 40.9 pence per mile
Bus travel – cost of the ordinary fare, cheap fare or portion of any weekly ticket;

That the subsistence limits referred to in (7) above be exceeded in exceptional
circumstances at the discretion of the Monitoring Officer, e.g. to enable a Councillor and
an officer attending a conference to stay at the same accommodation, subject to there
being sufficient budget provision;

(10) That provision for Co-optees’ Allowances is payable solely to non-councillor members of
the Standards Committee attending meetings of the Committee or any Sub-Committee
set up by the Committee as part of its process of assessing, investigating and hearing
complaints about Councillors; the allowances to be paid at the daily rate equivalent of
2

Page 64

the Councillors’ Basic Allowance; the Monitoring Officer to be authorised to settle the
rate to be paid on each occasion;
(11) That the salary sacrifice schemes available to Council staff also be made available to
Councillors;
(12) That the basic allowance and the Special Responsibility Allowances set out above be
increased at the beginning of each new financial year in accordance with the Local
Government Pay Settlement for the period of the scheme (ie until 1 April 2022).

3

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF HR AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
TO:

COUNCIL

DATE:

23 MARCH 2021

TITLE:

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021/22

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

CLLR EMBERSON

PORTFOLIO:

CORPORATE AND CONSUMER
SERVICES

LEAD OFFICER:

SHELLA SMITH

TEL:

0118 937 4697

JOB TITLE:

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR
OF HR AND
ORGANISATIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

E-MAIL:

Shella.smith@reading.gov.uk

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To present a Pay Policy Statement for 2021/22, for approval, following its
consideration at the Personnel Committee held on 17 March 2021.

1.2

Appendices
Appendix 1: Pay Policy Statement 2021/22

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Pay Policy Statement for 2021/22 be approved, as attached at
Appendix 1 to the report.

2.1

That the Assistant Director of HR and Organisational Development, in
consultation with the Lead Councillor for Corporate and Consumer
Services, be authorised to update the Pay Policy Statement with new pay
scales and pay ratios if required, when the discussions between national
employers and joint trade unions had been concluded, in addition to
updating the current employers pension contribution figure.

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

Local Authorities are required under section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011
(the Act) to prepare a Pay Policy Statement. The statement must articulate
the Council’s policy towards the pay of the workforce, particularly senior staff
and its lowest paid employees.

Page 67

3.2

The Pay Policy Statement for 2021/22 is attached as Appendix 1. It has been
updated as follows:






3.3

To show the updated pay multiples in section 8.
To reflect changes agreed by Council regarding the senior management
structure of the Council (as set out in Article 12 of the Constitution)
Annex B has been reduced and provides references as to where relevant
information on the governance arrangements for pay and conditions of
service for Council officers can be found in the Constitution (rather
than including extracts lifted from the Constitution).
Annex D (council employees in salary bands) has been updated with
data for 1 April 2020 and paragraph 10 (Pay Profile) has been updated
to reflect this.

Further updates may be required to the Pay Policy Statement as detailed
below. Delegated authority is sought through this report for the Assistant
Director of HR and Organisational Development, in consultation with the Lead
Member for Corporate and Consumer Service, to make these updates.



Paragraph 14.1 with the new employer contribution rate for 2020/21
for the Local Government Pension Scheme when agreed (currently
14.8%)
Annex F (new pay scales) when the discussions between national
employers and joint trade unions have concluded, if a pay award is
agreed.

3.4

Personnel Committee has previously been made aware of The Restriction of
Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020 which took effect on 4
November 2020 as it would have been necessary to reflect the new
Regulations in the Pay Policy Statement. The Regulations capped public
sector exit payments (including Local Government Pension Scheme strain
costs) to a total of £95,000 per employee. On 12 February 2021, Government
made a surprise announcement that it is effectively disapplying the cap with
immediate effect. The only reason cited is that the cap “may have had
unintended consequences”. The decision comes a few weeks before the
Regulations were about to be subject to a judicial review challenge. HM
Treasury stated that it intends to bring forward new proposals at pace to
tackle unjustified exit payments. The announcement also calls into question
the status of the further reform led by the Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government (MHCLG) which impacts on the Discretionary Payments
Regulations and Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations. Considering
this latest news, it seems unlikely that the reforms can proceed based on the
current proposals until HM Treasury’s new proposals are made clear.

3.5

Each local authority is an individual employer in its own right and has the
autonomy to make decisions on pay that are appropriate to local
circumstances and which deliver value for money for local taxpayers. The
provisions of the Localism Act do not seek to change this or to determine what
decisions on pay should be taken but they require individual employing

Page 68

authorities to be more open about their own policies in relation to pay and
how decisions are made in this regard.
3.6

Section 40 of the Act requires authorities in developing their Pay Policy
Statement to have regard to any guidance published by the Secretary of State.
This includes Communities and Local Government guidance on Openness and
Accountability in Local Pay and the Code of Recommended Practice for Local
Authorities on Data Transparency (as amended).

3.7

The government has taken steps to increase transparency on the pay and
reward of public sector employees and the Code of Recommended Practice
for Local Authorities on Data Transparency which amongst other things asks
councils to consider the way they release data on senior salaries.

3.8

In March 2011 the Hutton Review of Fair Pay was published which made
several recommendations for promoting pay fairness in the public sector by
tackling disparities between the lowest and highest paid in the public sector.

3.9

The provisions contained in the Act bring together the need for increasing
accountability, transparency and fairness in the setting of pay which
culminated in the formalisation of the Council’s Pay Policy Statement, which
outlines the pay and reward of the most senior employees set within the
context of the pay of the wider workforce.

3.10

The Act sets out in detail the specific elements which the Pay Policy
Statement must include as a minimum. The Act requires that in addition to
the determination of senior salaries, authorities must make clear what
approach is taken to awarding other elements of pay including:





severance payments,
any additional fees (e.g. election duties),
pay increases,
honorarium payments etc.

3.11

The Act requires that authorities include in their Pay Policy Statements their
approach to the publication of and access to information relating to the
remuneration of Chief Officers. Reference to the council’s Statement of
Accounts where this information is published is included within the proposed
policy.

3.12

The Act requires that Pay Policy Statements are produced annually and are
considered by full Council. Any subsequent amendments required to the
policy should also be considered by full Council. This should be carried out in
accordance with part 5A of the Local Government Act 1972. The Secretary of
State does not consider that any of the grounds for exclusion of the public
would be met for discussions around Pay Policy Statements.

3.13

The Act requires that the Council’s approach to pay, as set out in the Pay
Policy Statement, is accessible for council tax payers for them to take an

Page 69

informed view of whether local decisions on all aspects of remuneration are
fair therefore the approved Pay Policy Statement is published on the Council’s
website.
3.14

The Hutton report highlighted that there is value in ensuring decisions about
senior pay are taken in the context of similar decisions on lower paid staff
and the Act requires Authorities to set their policy on remuneration for the
highest paid employees alongside policies on the lowest paid.

3.15

The Hutton report and The Code of Recommended Practice for Local
Authorities on Data Transparency also suggest that the organisation’s pay
multiple is published. The ‘pay multiple’ (in this context) is described as the
ratio between the highest paid employee and the ‘median average’ earnings
across the organisation which acts as a means of illustrating the relationship
between the highest and lowest paid.

4.

NEXT STEPS

4.1

The revised Pay Policy Statement in Appendix 1 will be updated with new pay
scales and pay ratios if required, when the discussions between national
employers and joint trade unions had been concluded, in addition to updating
the current employers pension contribution figure.

5.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

There are no significant legal issues arising from this report.

6.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1.

There are no financial implications arising from this report as the Pay Policy
Statement is based upon existing policies and procedures.

7.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

7.1

There are no significant equalities issues arising from this report.

8.

CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION

8.1

As the Pay Policy Statement is largely a matter of fact in terms of how the
Council currently determines the pay and conditions of its staff, consultation
with staff is not required. However, the statement was presented to the
Council’s Local Joint Forum for information.

9.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
None.

Page 70

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021/22
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Reading Borough Council’s pay policy aims to ensure value for money whilst enabling the
Council to deliver high quality services to the residents of Reading. The Council seeks to
set pay rates that are adequate to secure and retain high quality employees dedicated
to the service of the public, but will determine overall pay and benefits at an
appropriate level in accordance with equality, affordability and other relevant factors.
1.2. Pay levels will not be unnecessarily generous or otherwise excessive.
1.3. Reading Borough Council agrees that local authorities should be able to determine their
own pay structures in order to address local priorities and to compete in the local labour
market.
1.4. Reading Borough Council is committed to equality, transparency and fairness across all
of its activities and particularly in relation to the pay and conditions of its staff.
1.5. This document has the following Annexes:
Annex A:

Requirements and Recommendations to Publish Personal data concerning
Staff

Annex B:

Governance Arrangements for Pay and Conditions of Service

Annex C:

Summary of Conditions of Service

Annex D:

Council Employees in Salary Bands as at 1 April 2020

Annex E:

Pension Discretions Statement

Annex F

Pay scales for staff employed on NJC (Green Book) conditions and Senior
Managers (JNC).

1.6. The following related documents related to pay and remuneration can be accessed
through the Council’s website:
o

Details and responsibilities of all job roles paid above £50,000

o

Market Supplement Policy

o

Council Senior level organisational chart

2. LEGISLATION
2.1. The authority appoints its staff, and determines the terms and conditions of service on
which they hold office, under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1978. This
includes procedures for dismissal. Full Council has delegated this power to the Personnel
Committee, with the exception of the Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and
Monitoring Officer for whom separate statutory procedures apply.
2.2. Sections 38 – 43 of the Localism Act 2011 require that the authority produce a policy
statement that covers a number of matters concerning the pay of the authority’s staff,
principally Chief Officers. This policy statement meets the requirements of the Localism
Act in this regard and also meets the requirements of guidance issued in February 2012
and February 2013 by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government to
which the authority is required to have regard under Section 40 of the Act.
2.3. This policy also has some connection with the data on pay and rewards for staff which
the authority publishes under the Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities
on Data Transparency and the data which is published under The Accounts and Audit
(England) Regulations (2011). A revised draft Code was published in December 2013. It
should be noted that the requirements to publish data under the Secretary of State’s

Page 71

guidance, the Code of Practice and the Regulations do differ, the data requirements of
the Code of Practice and the Accounts and Audit Regulations are summarised at Annex
A to this policy statement.
2.4. Any decision under powers delegated in the Council’s Constitution / Scheme of
Delegation with regard to remuneration to be taken during 2021/22 will be bound by
and must comply with this Statement. No decision at variance with this Statement may
be taken without the specific agreement of full Council.
2.5. The Head of Paid Service and Assistant Director of Legal & Democratic Services must be
consulted prior to any decision impacting on remuneration where there is any question
regarding compliance with the Statement.
3. SCOPE OF THIS STATEMENT AND DEFINITION OF TERMS
3.1. This pay policy statement meets the statutory duty to provide the Council with a
description of the policy on staff remuneration for annual approval. It provides
information on remuneration arrangements for staff directly employed by the Council,
excluding staff in schools.
3.2. This statement sets out the Council’s policy with regard to:
• the remuneration of ‘chief officers’ (the senior pay group – see below)
• the remuneration of the lowest paid employees
• the relationship between chief officers’ remuneration and that of other officers
3.3. In this policy the ‘senior pay group’ (senior managers) covers posts in the top three tiers
of the organisation. These include the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Executive
Directors and Deputy/Assistant Directors. Posts in this group in Reading are as follows:
(a) the Head of the Authority’s Paid Service [Chief Executive]
(b) the Deputy Chief Executive (Deputy Head of Paid Service)
(c) the Executive Director of Children, Education and Early Help Services;
(d) the Executive Director of Social Care & Health;
(e) the Executive Director of Economic Growth & Neighbourhood Services
(f) the Executive Director of Resources
(g) the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)
(h) the Monitoring Officer (Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services)
(i) persons who, as respects all or most of their duties, report directly to or are directly
accountable to the Head of the Council’s Paid Service
(i) persons who, as respects all or most of their duties, report directly to or are
accountable to the posts listed in (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g) and (h) above (other than
staff whose duties are of a clerical or support nature)
3.4. The senior management structure of the organisation can be found in Part 7 of the
Council Constitution on the Council’s website.
3.5. The Council defines its lowest paid employees as those staff paid on the first spinal
column point of the Council’s pay grades for National Joint Council (NJC) for Local
Government Services staff [RG Grades]. This definition is adopted as it refers to the
lowest level of pay for staff on non-casual or apprentice contracts of employment.
3.6. The relationship between the remuneration of the lowest paid employees and that of
the Council’s senior officers is as described in this statement and by reference to the
published data referred to.
3.7. “Remuneration” for the purposes of this statement includes these elements:
• basic salary
• pension
• all other allowances arising from employment

Page 72

4. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND DECISION MAKING
4.1. Council has delegated to the Personnel Committee the power to appoint and determine
the terms and conditions of employment for all staff, including the application of any
discretions under the pension schemes. The terms of reference of the Personnel
Committee are set out in Article 8 of Part 2 of the Council’s constitution.
4.2. Council, and the Personnel Committee, have extensive and long-standing arrangements
to delegate the exercise of this power to the Deputy Chief Executive, Executive
Directors, Directors and Deputy/Assistant Directors, in respect of the staff employed in
their service areas.
4.3. The delegation is subject to the Council’s Officer Employment Rules, which are set out
in Part 4 of the Council’s constitution.
4.4. A summary of the arrangements for determining terms and conditions of service for staff
can be found in Annex B.
4.5. The Council, and the Personnel Committee, have adopted a range of policies which apply
to the recruitment and employment of the staff of the authority. Policies which are
specifically relevant to this Statement include:
o

Low Pay Policy

o

Recruitment and Selection Policy

o

Employment Stability Agreement and Pay Protection Policy

o

Appraisal Scheme and Performance-Related Progression Scheme

o

Policies relating to Market Supplements; Starting Salary on Appointment; Honorarium
and Acting-Up Payments

4.6. The Scheme of Delegation provides for the Deputy Chief Executive, Executive Directors,
Directors and Deputy/Assistant Directors to manage, review and apply the Council’s
Human Resources policies, and to determine the appropriate pay and conditions for the
appointment of staff within these policies.
5. CONDITIONS OF SERVICE
5.1. Reading Borough Council applies terms and conditions of employment that have been
negotiated and agreed through appropriate collective bargaining mechanisms (national
or local) or as a consequence of authority decisions, these are then incorporated into
contracts of employment.
5.2. The Council is a member of the local government employers association for national
collective bargaining in respect of chief executives, chief officers and other employees.
There are separate negotiations and agreements in respect of each of these groups.
Changes from national negotiations generally take effect from 1 April each year and are
retrospective to 1 April where agreements are made later than 1 April. It is the
authority’s long-standing policy to implement national agreements. The head of paid
service and chief officers are under the JNC conditions of service, with locally
determined pay. All other employees are under the relevant national agreement on pay
and conditions of service applying to the particular service area, with local variations to
pay. Pay for staff on all terms and conditions (as set out in Annex C) was last increased
nationally (‘cost of living’ increase) in April 2020. The Council will apply any settlement
reached nationally in respect of staff covered by national bargaining machinery where
this is the locally agreed mechanism for determining cost of living increases.
5.3. A summary of the arrangements for determining terms and conditions of service for staff
is set out in Annex C:

Page 73

6. POLICY ON REMUNERATING SENIOR MANAGERS
6.1. Head of Paid Service: The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) is paid on a locally
determined salary which is reviewed and approved by Personnel Committee when the
post becomes vacant. Independent external consultancy advice on appropriate
remuneration levels (taking account of role and responsibilities, recruitment and
retention factors and local and regional salary benchmarks) is presented to Personnel
Committee to inform their decision-making in this matter.
6.2. The locally determined salary will be within the parameters of the Pay Policy Statement
and will be set out in the Minutes of the Personnel Committee meeting which approves
the salary, which will be published on the Council’s website. The salary range will also
be published in the job advertisement to fill the vacant post.
6.3. At the conclusion of the recruitment process, the decision to appoint a person to fill the
post of Head of Paid Service will be taken by Council, which will be advised of the local
salary, and the point at which the appointment was recommended to be made.
6.4. No other payments or benefits are payable to the Head of Paid Service (e.g. bonus,
performance related pay, health insurance, car lease) other than those referred to
elsewhere in this policy statement as being applicable to all employees.
6.5. Unless otherwise determined on appointment, the salary for the Head of Paid Service is
subject to annual review by the Personnel Committee (on the anniversary of the date of
appointment), in accordance with the following principles:




That any salary progression is subject to a satisfactory annual appraisal;
That the salary / scale is uplifted by the pay award nationally agreed for the JNC
for Chief Executives;
That these principles take effect on the anniversary of the date of appointment
without need for Personnel Committee decision, unless an exception report is
initiated by the Leader of the Council.

6.6. Deputy Chief Executive, Executive Directors, Directors and Deputy/Assistant
Directors: These senior staff are paid on locally determined incremental Reading Senior
Management / Corporate Director (RSM / CD) salary scales. These scales were
established and approved by Personnel Committee following an independent review of
senior salaries carried out by the Hay Group in 2001/2, using relevant regional public
sector salary benchmarks. These scales are uplifted by the pay award nationally agreed
(if any) for the JNC for Chief Officers. Exceptionally, the JNC pay award is not
implemented for the senior pay group in times of severe budget challenge.
6.7. The Deputy Chief Executive post receives a special responsibility allowance of £14,355
per annum (based on 1st April pay scales) which is 50% of the salary difference between
the Chief Executive and Executive Director grade maximums. Cost of living pay awards
agreed by the Joint Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities are to
be applied to the allowance. There are no other additional elements of remuneration
in respect of overtime, flexi-time, bank holiday working, stand-by payments, etc., paid
to senior staff, as they are expected to undertake duties outside their contractual hours
and working patterns without additional payment.
6.8. No other payments or benefits are payable to these senior staff (e.g. bonus, performance
related pay, health insurance, car lease) other than those referred to elsewhere in this
policy statement as being applicable to all employees.
7. POLICY ON REMUNERATING THE LOWEST PAID IN THE WORKFORCE
7.1. This policy statement reconfirms the Council’s long-standing Low Pay Policy. The
grading structure allows for all staff, except apprentices, to be paid an hourly rate no
lower than the Living Wage (£9.50 per hour from 9 November 2020).

Page 74

7.2.

The Council previously paid a Living Wage supplement to increase the hourly rate of
employees to the Living Wage, where necessary (with the exception of apprentices as
detailed in 7.3 below). Since 1st April 2019 the lowest point on the salary scales has been
above the Living Wage rate and is therefore reflected in all staff’s substantive rate.
Currently, the lowest hourly rate is £9.62 (based on salary scales agreed on 1st April
2020).

7.3.

Apprentices are paid at least the nationally recommended allowance rate of £4.15 per
hour for the first 12 months of employment and thereafter are paid at least the National
Minimum Wage (NMW) as applicable to the employee’s age. These rates are updated as
the national allowances are revised.

7.4.

Reading Borough Council is also committed to the development and publication of a
local policy to promote and require, to the extent permitted by law, the application of
the Council’s low pay policy to staff working for the Council’s contractors in addition to
the application of TUPE. The Council became an accredited Living Wage Employer in
2015.

8. PAY MULTIPLES
8.1. The highest paid salary in this authority is up to £166,765 which is the top of the annual
salary range paid to the Head of Paid Service. The current ratio between the lowest paid
employee (scp 3, £18,562 per annum as at 1st April 2020) and the highest paid employee
is 1:8.98. This ratio is with effect from 1st April 2020. The Council will work to maintain
a ratio of no more than 1:10 between the lowest paid and the highest paid.
8.2. This authority does not have a policy on maintaining or reaching a specific highest /
median ‘pay multiple’, however the authority is conscious of the need to ensure that
the salary of the highest paid employee is not excessive and is consistent with the needs
of the authority as expressed in this policy statement. The authority’s approach to the
payment of other staff is to pay that which the authority needs to pay to recruit and
retain staff with the skills, knowledge, experience, abilities and qualities needed for the
post in question at the relevant time, and to ensure that the authority meets any
contractual requirements for staff including the application of any local or national
collective agreements, or authority decisions regarding pay. The median salary paid by
the Council is £27,741. Pay multiple therefore between the highest and median salary
is 1: 6.01.
8.3. Pay multiples will be monitored each year within the Pay Policy Statement and will be
benchmarked against comparable authorities as others’ pay policy statements are
published.
8.4. In terms of overall remuneration packages the Council’s policy is to differentiate by
setting different levels of basic pay to reflect differences in responsibilities (job
evaluation) but not to differentiate on other allowances, benefits and payments it
makes.
9. PAY AND GRADING STRUCTURE
9.1. The Council uses established formal job evaluation procedures to identify the relative
worth of jobs within the council (including the senior pay group), and to allocate jobs
to the appropriate pay grade.
9.2. For the senior pay group (RSM / CD Grades) RBC uses the Hay job evaluation scheme, for
other jobs we use the national NJC for Local Government Employees JE scheme.
9.3. The NJC Job Evaluation Scheme, which is recognised by employers and trades unions
nationally, allows for robust measurement against set criteria resulting in fair and
objective evaluations and satisfies equal pay requirements
9.4. Pay grades are shown at Annex F.

Page 75

10. PAY PROFILE
10.1. Annex D shows employees at 1 April 2020 by salary band and then by gender,
ethnic origin and disability..
10.2. The numbers of black and minority ethnic employees and disabled employees are shown
as a proportion of employees who have made a positive declaration.
10.3. Female employees continue to form the greater percentage across all salary bands
except for RG9 and senior manager grades. This is largely because 60.5% of the Council’s
workforce are women.
10.4. The percentage of employees from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds
is highest in RG2 at 33.3%. The percentage of BAME employees in the workforce is 14.2%.
10.5. The overall number of employees who have declared a disability across salary bands
ranges between 0.00% in RG10 and 10% in RG1 (apprentices). The percentage of
employees who have declared a disability in the workforce is 3.7%.
11. PAY PROGRESSION
11.1. Under the Council’s Performance Related Progression Scheme the award of an annual
increment is dependent upon an employee’s achievement of performance targets and
competency objectives. The scheme also links incremental progression with whether
performance is improving or declining. No increment can be awarded if an employee is
subject to formal disciplinary or capability (poor performance) procedures.
11.2. The following principles apply to pay progression for all RBC staff:


‘Gateways’ will be established 2 or 3 increments from the top of each grade
depending on its length. Progression within a grade beyond the gateway will be
for wider responsibility which meets agreed competency levels, based on job
evaluation (JE) factor levels;



Progression up to the gateway within the grade will be subject to a satisfactory
assessment of performance and contribution based on management evidence
throughout the year;



Progression between grades within career grades will be dependent on meeting
competencies at the next grade level;



On progression matters, there will be one appeal level above the approving
manager (i.e. designated officer or Assistant Director);



Regular supervision and appraisal are fundamental to employee progression.

11.3. Accelerated incremental progression within the evaluated grade is only possible where
there is objective evidence of outstanding performance or there is evidence that
demonstrates inequality of pay level with comparable peers. Any such increase must be
approved by the relevant Executive Director or Deputy Chief Executive and reasons
provided to HR.
11.4. In addition to 11.3, accelerated increments would be paid for the progression within an
existing career grade structure where skills and competencies (including academic
attainment) have been achieved which meet predetermined career grade progression
criteria.
11.5. The acceleration of an employee through the gateway of their existing grade, needs to
be evidenced and certified by the Service Manager as meeting pre-existing and defined
career progression criteria and approved by the relevant Executive Director or Deputy
Chief Executive. Copies of the evidence to support such a decision need to be placed on
the employee’s personal file held by HR.
11.6. Any career grade progression is conditional upon budget provision being available.

Page 76

11.7. Employees successfully moving posts within the Council will be subject to the principle
of annual incremental progression assessment. They will no longer receive an automatic
increment 6 months after being in their new post.
12. LOCAL PAY ARRANGEMENTS
12.1. Child Care Solicitors – This section, based in RBC’s Legal Service, provides a service to
other Berkshire Unitary Councils. Staff who were employed by the former Berkshire
County Council retain local pay and progression arrangements which were inherited by
RBC as a result of Statutory Transfer Order / TUPE provisions.
13. REMUNERATION ON APPOINTMENT AND PROMOTION
13.1. The Council’s policy is to not pay any form of “signing on” fee or incentive payment
when recruiting, except where there are significant recruitment difficulties that
jeopardise service delivery, as identified and approved by CMT.
13.2. The starting pay point for all new employees (including internally appointed or promoted
employees) should normally be the first point of the appropriate grade. There may be
circumstances (e.g. offers from other employers, market forces) where it is necessary
to make an offer that is at a higher point within the grade. The authority to make an
offer higher than the starting point lies with the Deputy/Assistant Director, who must
also consider the equality of such an exception and must inform the Assistant Director
of HR and Organisational Development of the reason for the exception. This policy
applies to all staff.
13.3. At the point of any assimilation to a new grade, employees moving to a higher grade will
be placed at the bottom of that new grade.
14. OTHER ELEMENTS OF THE REMUNERATION PACKAGE
14.1. Pension: Pension provision is an important part of the remuneration package. All
employees may join the local government pension scheme (or the Teachers Pension
Scheme for relevant staff) and are enrolled automatically unless they wish to opt out.
The scheme is a statutory scheme with contributions from employees and from
employers. The current employer contribution rate for Reading Borough Council is
14.8%. This rate is reviewed and set every three years by the actuary. Reading Borough
Council is part of the Berkshire scheme, administered by the Royal Borough of
Maidenhead and Windsor. Neither the scheme nor the Council adopt different policies
with regard to benefits for any category of employee: the same terms apply to the Chief
Executive, chief officers and other staff.
14.2. Election / Returning Officer Fees: The Returning Officer is an officer of the Borough
Council who is appointed under the Representation of the People Act 1983. Whilst
appointed by the Borough Council, the role of the Returning Officer is one which involves
and incurs personal responsibility and accountability and is statutorily separate from
his/her duties as an employee of the Borough Council. As Returning Officer, he/she is
paid a separate allowance for each election for which he/she is responsible.
14.3. Separate fees will be paid to the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services for
undertaking Returning Officer duties which are not part of the post’s substantive role.
These fees will be paid in line with the amount recommended by the Government or
Electoral Commission for Parliamentary and European elections and referendums, or as
set out in the Council’s budget estimates for local elections.
14.4. The Returning Officer may appoint one or more Deputy Returning Officers and pay a fee
to them for undertaking the duties that the Returning Officer allocates to them.
14.5. Market Supplements: The Council may pay a market supplement, in addition to base
salary, in order to recruit or retain staff with special skills experience or knowledge.
Market supplements are applied, reviewed and withdrawn in accordance with the
Council’s market supplement policy, which is published on the Council’s website. The

Page 77

Head of Paid Service has delegated authority to determine posts for which salary
supplements will be paid, and the amount and duration of the supplement, in
consultation with the Assistant Director of HR and Organisational Development and the
relevant Executive Director or Deputy Chief Executive.
14.6. Honorarium and other temporary additional payments:
Under the Council’s scheme of delegation to officers, the Deputy Chief Executive,
Executive Directors, Directors and Deputy/Assistant Directors are authorised to approve
additional payments in the circumstances described below:
(a)‘Acting-up’ - The employee will either receive the 'rate for the job' that they
are covering if they are undertaking the full range of duties and responsibilities. As
a minimum, this means that they will be paid at the first spinal column point of the
grade of the post that they are acting up into. If the employee is not undertaking
the full range of duties of a higher graded post, then an acting up allowance will be
paid. The allowance will be a percentage of the difference between the first point
on the grade of the post being covered and the employee’s current salary equivalent
to the percentage proportion of higher responsibility being undertaken.
(b) Honorarium payments - Where an employee is undertaking work on a project
or discrete piece of work which would fall outside of the normal range of duties
expected for their particular post, then the employee shall be eligible for an
honorarium payment for the duration of the project.
The level of payment made should be determined with regard to the level of
responsibilities being undertaken and this should be determined with regard to the
Council’s Job Evaluation Scheme. All such payments must be approved by the
Assistant Director of HR and Organisational Development to ensure proper
application of the Council’s policy.
The employee will be paid an amount appropriate to the proportion of their time
being spent working at this higher level on a monthly basis for the duration of the
project / programme.
15. NON-PAY ELEMENTS AND BENEFITS
15.1. Annual Leave: The following annual leave entitlements apply






The minimum annual leave allowance (on appointment) will be 24 days per year
There will be an additional 5 days at 5 years continuous local government service
(granted from anniversary of start date).
There will be an additional 3 days at 10 years Reading Borough Council service
(granted from following 1 April).
The minimum annual leave allowance (on appointment) will be 30 days per year for
the senior pay group
The maximum annual leave allowance for all staff will be 32 days.

15.2. Salary Sacrifice Schemes / Employee discount schemes: All employees can access
salary sacrifice schemes for childcare vouchers, Kennet Day Nursery, Added Voluntary
Contributions (AVCs), bicycle purchase, and lease cars. There are also non-subsidised
employee discount schemes.
15.3. Flexible Working: All employees can access flexible working arrangements subject
always to the needs of the service.
15.4. Car Allowances / Expenses: The Council will meet or reimburse authorised travel,
subsistence and (exceptionally) accommodation costs for attendance at necessary and
approved meetings and training events. The Council does not regard such costs as
remuneration but as non-pay operational costs. This policy is applied consistently to the
Head of Paid Service, chief officers and other employees. The locally determined car
allowance reimbursement rate for necessary and approved work-related travel is 45p

Page 78

per mile for all authorised car users. No other car allowance (e.g. monthly lump sum)
is payable to any employee.
16. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT
16.1. Under the Council’s Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the decision to effect
dismissal or retirement on the grounds of redundancy or efficiency of the service is a
decision of Personnel Committee for posts at Deputy/Assistant Director and above. The
decision is delegated to the relevant Executive Director or Deputy Chief Executive for
all posts below this level.
16.2. However, the final decision as to the compensation to be paid as a result of such
dismissal decisions, for all posts, is a decision of Personnel Committee. Personnel
Committee also need to approve any employee requests for early retirement which
require employer consent and entail a cost to the Council.
16.3. Each of the proposals presented to the Committee must first be considered and agreed
by an officer panel comprising the Director of Finance (S151 Officer), Monitoring Officer
and the Assistant Director of HR and Organisational Development. This panel is
established to monitor applications on the basis of consistency, legality and financial
prudence. In terms of financial prudence, each case must demonstrate a ‘payback
period’ within one year, or, exceptionally, two years in ‘efficiency of the service’ cases
if sufficient service and efficiency benefits to the Council can be demonstrated. This
Panel also assesses associated questions e.g. exercise of exceptional discretion;
reasonableness of alternative employment in redundancy cases etc.
16.4. In the event that the compensation to be paid exceeds £100,000 in total, then full
Council will be offered an opportunity to vote on the matter prior to approval.
16.5. Discretionary Enhancement of Redundancy Payments: The policy for the award of any
discretionary payments is the same for all staff regardless of their pay level. Redundancy
payments under regulation 5 of the Local Government (Early Termination of
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England & Wales) Regulations 2006 provide
discretion to pay up to an overall lump sum of 2 times the statutory redundancy payment
formula based on actual weeks’ pay, capped at 52 weeks’ pay (may be adjusted
following consultation). This is payable to employees made redundant with 2 or more
years continuous service regardless of their age. Discretionary compensation can be
reduced in cases where an offer of suitable alternative employment is deemed to have
been unreasonably refused.
16.6. Settlement Agreements: In exceptional circumstances, and specifically so as to settle
a claim or potential dispute the Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services can
agree payment of a termination settlement sum (subject to a decision of Personnel
Committee if outside the normal framework for termination payments as set out in this
section).
16.7. Policy on Re-Employment: The policy for re-employment following redundancy /
efficiency termination is the same for all staff regardless of their pay level. Employees
in receipt of compensation payment for loss of employment which has had discretionary
enhancements applied to it are not permitted to take up employment with Reading
Borough Council within 12 months of the ending of their current employment.
16.8. Flexible Retirement: In accordance with Superannuation Regulations, rather than
continuing in their current job to age 65 employees can, on or after age 55 and with
Council consent, reduce their hours of work or the grade in which they are employed
and draw (some or all of) their accrued pension benefits whilst continuing in
employment and building up further benefits in the Scheme – enabling them to ease into
retirement. Employees must be 55 or over and have 3 or more months’ membership in
the LGPS (including transferred rights) in order to be eligible to make a flexible
retirement request following a reduction in hours or grade. Pension benefits will

Page 79

normally be reduced if paid before age 65. This policy is open to all employees, subject
to financial requirements being met (net savings to the Council and a pay back period
of no more than 2 years).
17. PENSION DISCRETIONS
17.5. The Council’s current policy statement on the use of discretions under the relevant
Superannuation Regulations is attached as Annex E.
18. PAY PROTECTION
18.5. The Council’s pay protection policy is approved by the Personnel Committee as part of
the Employment Stability Agreement. The policy provides a mechanism for assisting
employees to adjust to a reduction in pay as a result of organisational change.
19. PUBLICATION OF INFORMATION ON THE REMUNERATION OF STAFF
19.5. This Pay Policy Statement will be published on the Council’s website. In addition, details
of all posts paid above £50,000 will be published.
20. AMENDMENTS TO THE POLICY
20.5. As the policy covers the period April 2021 to the end of March 2022, amendments may
need to be made to the policy throughout the relevant period. As the Localism Act 2011
requires that any amendments are approved by the Council by resolution, proposed
amendments will be reported to Personnel Committee for recommendation to the
Council.
21.

POLICY FOR FUTURE YEARS
21.5. This policy statement will be reviewed each year and will be presented to Council each
year for consideration in order to ensure that a policy is in place for the authority prior
to the start of each financial year.

Page 80

PAY POLICY STATEMENT – ANNEX A
The Secretary of State for CLG Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities on Data
Transparency indicates that local authorities should publish the following data concerning staff:




Salaries, job descriptions, responsibilities, budgets (including overall salary cost of staff
reporting), and numbers of staff for all staff in receipt of a salary of more than £50,000
An organisational chart of the staff structure of the authority including salary bands and
details of currently vacant posts
The ‘pay multiple’ – the ratio between the highest paid salary and the median average
salary of the whole authority workforce

The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations (2011) require that the following data is included
in the authority’s accounts:




Numbers of employees with a salary above £50k per annum (pro-rata for part-time staff)
in multiples of £5k
Job title, remuneration and employer pension contributions for senior officers. Senior
officers are defined as Head of Paid Service, Statutory Chief Officers and Non-Statutory
Chief Officers by reference to Section 2 of the 1989 Local Government & Housing Act.
Names of employees paid over £150k per annum

For the above remuneration is to include:






Salary, fees or allowances for the current and previous year
Bonuses paid or receivable for the current and previous year
Expenses paid in the previous year
Compensation for loss of employment paid to or receivable, or payments made in
connection with loss of employment
Total estimated value of non-cash benefits that are emoluments of the person

For the above pension contributions to include:



The amount driven by the authority’s set employer contribution rate
Employer costs incurred relating to any increased membership or award of additional
pension

Page 81

PAY POLICY STATEMENT – ANNEX B
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR PAY AND CONDITIONS OF SERVICE
[Note: these provisions are subject to amendment as the source documents are amended]
1.1. Constitution of Reading Borough Council
Part 3.3 Responsibility for Council Functions (Schedule 1, Part 2):
37. Power to appoint staff, and Section 112 of the Local
to determine the terms and Government Act 1972.
conditions on which they hold
office (including procedures for
dismissal)
40. Power to appoint officers
for
particular
purposes
(appointment
of
“proper
officers”)
43. Duty to designate officer as
head of the authority’s paid
service, and deputy head of
paid service and to provide
staff, etc

Section 270(3) of
Local Government
1972

Personnel Committee
General Delegation to
Deputy
Chief
Executive,
Executive
Directors,
Directors
and Deputy/Assistant
Directors
the Personnel Committee
Act

Section 4(1) of the Local Council
Government & Housing At
1989 (c. 42)

1.2. The Officer Employment Procedure Rules are in Part 4 of the Constitution.

Page 82

PAY POLICY STATEMENT – ANNEX C
SUMMARY OF CONDITIONS OF SERVICE
Chief Executive
The terms and conditions for the Head of Paid Service are as set out by the Joint Negotiating
Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives, and as amended locally. Pay is determined locally.
Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Directors
The terms and conditions for the Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Directors are in accordance
with the Scheme of Conditions of Service agreed by the National Joint Negotiating Committee for
Chief Officers, and as amended locally. Pay is determined locally.
Directors and Deputy/Assistant Directors (third tier – i.e. reporting directly to the Head of Paid
Service, Deputy Chief Executive or an Executive Director)
The terms and conditions for Directors and Deputy/Assistant Directors are as set out by the Joint
Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers, and as amended locally. Pay is determined locally.
NJC Staff
The Terms and conditions for NJC staff are determined by the National Joint Council (NJC) for
Local Government Services, and as amended locally.
Craft Employees
The Terms and conditions for NJC staff are determined by the National Joint Council (NJC) for
Craft and Associated Employees, and as amended locally.
Teachers
The terms and conditions for Teachers are as set out in the School Teachers Pay and Conditions
Document.
Soulbury Staff
The Soulbury Committee determines the national salary framework for Soulbury staff and terms
and conditions, as amended locally.
Youth Workers
The terms and conditions for Youth Workers are as determined by the Joint Negotiating Committee
(JNC) for Youth and Community Workers, and as amended locally.
Coroners
The terms and conditions for Coroners are set by the Joint Negotiating Committee for Coroners,
and as amended locally.

Page 83

PAY POLICY STATEMENT – ANNEX D
Council Employees in Salary Bands as at 01.04.2020
Women
Grade Bandings
RG1

Up to 18,562

Page 84

RG2

19,312

RG3

21,748

RG4

27,041

RG5

32,234

RG6

36,922

RG7

42,821

RG8

48,847

RG9

54,878

RG10

58,973
Above 58,973

1
2
3

Total Staff

No

%

BME
No

ND

Disability

%

No

ND

%

35
98
280
431
316
212
158
90
49
19
47

19
55
192
264
190
117
95
46
23
16
22

54.29%
56.12%
68.57%
61.25%
60.13%
55.19%
60.13%
51.11%
46.94%
84.21%
46.81%

4
30
41
56
47
27
20
14
2
3
3

2
8
15
21
6
9
6
4
1
2
6

12.12%
33.33%
15.47%
13.66%
15.16%
13.30%
13.16%
16.28%
4.17%
17.65%
7.32%

3
2
10
20
11
7
6
3
2
0
1

5
20
32
36
17
17
10
5
4
1
14

10.00%
2.56%
4.03%
5.06%
3.68%
3.59%
4.05%
3.53%
4.44%
0.00%
3.03%

1735

1039

59.88%

247

80

14.92%

65

161

4.13%

– Based on 220 pay bands and earnings
– As a proportion of employees who have made a positive declaration
- Excludes schools

PAY POLICY STATEMENT – ANNEX E

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME REGULATIONS 2013
STATEMENT OF POLICY ABOUT EXERCISE OF DISCRETIONARY FUNCTIONS
SCHEME EMPLOYER DECLARATION
The Scheme employer known as Reading Borough Council (‘the Council’) has prepared
this written statement of policy in relation to its exercise of certain discretionary
functions available under the Local Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. The Scheme
employer declares that it will keep this statement under review and publish the statement
(and any amendments made thereto) in a place that is easily accessible to all of its eligible
Scheme employees and that it will provide to the administering authority the most up to
date version of the statement at all times.
PART A – Formulation of COMPULSORY policy in accordance with Regulation 60 of the
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013

Regulation 16 – Additional Pension Contributions
The Scheme employer may resolve to fund in whole or in part any arrangement entered
into by an active scheme member to pay additional pension contributions by way of regular
contributions in accordance with Regulation 16(2)(e), or by way of a lump sum in
accordance with Regulation 16(4)(d).
The Scheme employer may enter into an APC contract with a Scheme member who is
contributing to the MAIN section of the Scheme in order to purchase additional pension of
not more than the additional pension limit (£6,500 from 1 st April 2014 subject to annual
increase in line with the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971).
The amount of additional contribution to be paid is determined by reference to actuarial
guidance issued by the Secretary of State.
Consideration needs to be given to the circumstances under which the Scheme employer
may wish to use their discretion to fund in whole or in part an employee’s Additional
Pension Contributions.
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the whole or part funding of an active member’s
additional pension contributions
The Council has resolved not to adopt this discretion at this time.
Regulation 30(6) – Flexible Retirement
An active member who has attained the age of 55 or over and who with the agreement of
their employer reduces their working hours or grade of employment may, with the further
consent of their employer, elect to receive immediate payment of all or part of the
retirement pension to which they would be entitled in respect of that employment as if
that member were no longer an employee in local government service on the date of the
Page 85

reduction in hours or grade (adjusted by the amount shown as appropriate in actuarial
guidance issued by the Secretary of State – separate policy required under Regulation
30(8)).
As part of the policy making decision the Scheme employer must consider whether, in
addition to the benefits the member may have accrued prior to 1 April 2008 (which the
member must draw), to permit the member to choose to draw all, part or none of the
pension benefits they built up after 31 March 2008 and before 1 April 2014 and all, part
of none of the pension benefits they built up after 1 April 2014.
Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of allowing an employee to
draw all or part of their pension benefits earlier than their normal retirement age.
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning flexible retirement
The Council has resolved that it will give such an opportunity to its employees. Flexible
Retirement under this discretion will be subject to an agreed policy framework. The
Council has resolved that waiving actuarial reduction in full or in part will only be
considered where there will be a sufficient financial or other benefit to the authority.
An exception to this requirement is the employee’s exceptionally difficult personal or
domestic circumstances
Regulation 30(8) – Waiving of Actuarial Reduction
Where a Scheme employer’s policy under regulation 30(6) (flexible retirement) is to
consent to the immediate release of benefits in respect of an active member who is aged
55 or over, those benefits must be adjusted by an amount shown as appropriate in
actuarial guidance issued by the Secretary of State (commonly referred to as actuarial
reduction or early payment reduction).
A Scheme employer (or former employer as the case may be) may agree to waive in whole
or in part and at their own cost, any actuarial reduction that may be required by the
Scheme Regulations.
Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of agreeing to waive in whole
or in part any actuarial reduction.
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the waiving of actuarial reduction
That the Council does not consent to waive any actuarial reduction for staff electing
to retire at age 55 or over, unless there is a sufficient financial or other benefit to the
Council. An exception to this requirement is the employee’s exceptionally difficult
personal or domestic circumstances.
Regulation 31 – Award of Additional Pension
A Scheme employer may resolve to award
(a) an active member, or

Page 86

(b) a member who was an active member but dismissed by reason of redundancy,
or business efficiency, or whose employment was terminated by mutual consent on
grounds of business efficiency,
additional annual pension of, in total (including any additional pension purchased by the
Scheme employer under Regulation 16), not more than the additional pension limit (£6,500
from 1st April 2014 subject to annual increase in line with the Pensions (Increase) Act
1971).
Any additional pension awarded is payable from the same date as any pension payable
under other provisions of the Scheme Regulations from the account to which the additional
pension is attached.
In the case of a member falling within sub-paragraph (b) above, the resolution to award
additional pension must be made within 6 months of the date that the member’s
employment ended.
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the award of additional pension
The Council has resolved not to adopt this discretion at this time
Schedule 2 – paragraphs 2 and 3
Where a scheme member retires or leaves employment and elects to draw their benefits
at or after the age of 55 and before the age of 60 those benefits will be actuarially reduced
unless their Scheme employer agrees to meet the full or part cost of those reductions as
a result of the member otherwise being protected under the 85 year rule as set out in
previous Regulations.
So as to avoid the member suffering the full reduction to their benefits the Scheme
employer can ‘switch on’ the 85 year rule protections thereby allowing the member to
receive fully or partly unreduced benefits but subject to the Scheme employer paying a
strain (capital) cost to the Pension Fund
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the ‘switching on of the 85 year rule
That the Council does not consent to switch on the 85 year rule for staff electing to
retire at age 55, unless there is a sufficient financial or other benefit to the Council.
An exception to this requirement may be the employee’s exceptionally difficult
personal or domestic circumstances.
PART B – Formulation of RECOMMENDED policy in accordance with the
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
Regulation 9(1) & (3) – Contributions
Where an active member changes employment or there is a material change which affects
the member’s pensionable pay during the course of a financial year, the Scheme employer
may determine that a contribution rate from a different band (as set out in Regulation
9(2)) should be applied.
Page 87

Where the Scheme employer makes such a determination it shall inform the member of
the revised contribution rate and the date from which it is to be applied.
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the re-determination of active members’
contribution bandings at any date other than 1st April
The Council shall re-determine contribution rates on 1st April each year only. Staff
joining the scheme shall be placed in a contribution band consistent with their
contracted, actual pay in the first instance except for casual staff who shall initially
be placed on the lowest contribution band. The banding placement for individual staff
shall be re-determined wef from the 1st April only in subsequent years following initial
placement and adjusted as necessary in the light of the pensionable pay actually
earned in the previous year (using a ‘12 month equivalent’ calculation for staff who
have not worked a full year).
Regulation 17(1) – Additional Voluntary Contributions
An active member may enter into arrangements to pay additional voluntary contributions
(AVCs) or to contribute to a shared cost additional voluntary contribution arrangement
(SCAVCs) in respect of an employment. The arrangement must be a scheme established
between the appropriate administering authority and a body approved for the purposes of
the Finance Act 2004, registered in accordance with that Act and administered in
accordance with the Pensions Act 2004.
The Scheme employer needs to determine whether or not it will make contributions to
such an arrangement on behalf of its active members
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning payment of Shared Cost Additional Voluntary
Contributions
The Council will pay SCAVC contributions where an employee has elected to pay AVCs
by salary sacrifice. The amount of these employer SCAVC contributions will not
exceed the amount of salary sacrificed by the employee. This is a Council discretion
which is subject to the employee meeting the Council’s conditions for acceptance into
the salary sacrifice shared cost AVC scheme and may be withdrawn or changed at any
time.
Regulation 22 – Merging of Deferred Member Pension Accounts with Active Member
Pension Accounts
A deferred member’s pension account is automatically aggregated with their active
member’s pension account unless the member elects within the first 12 months of the
new active member’s pension account being opened to retain their deferred member’s
pension account.
A Scheme employer can, at their discretion, extend the 12 month election period.
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning merging of Deferred Member Pension Accounts
with Active Member Pension Accounts

Page 88

The Council has resolved not to extend the time limit for election beyond 12 months.
Regulation 100(6) – Inward Transfers of Pension Rights
A request from an active member to transfer former pension rights from a previous
arrangement into the Local Government Pension Scheme as a result of their employment
with a Scheme employer must be made in writing to the administering authority and the
Scheme employer before the expiry of the period of 12 months beginning with the date
on which the employee first became an active member in an employment (or such longer
period as the Scheme employer and administering authority may allow).
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the extension of the 12 month transfer
application period
The Council has resolved not to extend the time limit for election beyond 12 months.
Regulation 21(5) – Assumed Pensionable Pay
A Scheme employer needs to determine whether or not to include in the calculation of
assumed pensionable pay, any ‘regular lump sum payment’ received by a Scheme member
in the 12 months preceding the date that gave rise to the need for an assumed pensionable
pay figure to be calculated.
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning inclusion of ‘regular lump sum payments’ in
assumed pensionable pay calculations
That the Council does include in such calculations an element for ‘regular lump sum
payment’ where it is fair, equitable and justifiable to do so.
Regulation 74 – Applications for Adjudication of Disagreements
Each Scheme employer must appoint a person (“the adjudicator”) to consider applications
from any person whose rights or liabilities under the Scheme are affected by:
(a) a decision under regulation 72 (first instance decisions); or
(b) any other act or omission by a Scheme employer or administering authority,
and to make a decision on such applications.
Responsibility for determinations under this first stage of the Internal Disputes Resolution
Procedure (IDRP) rests with “the adjudicator” as named below by the Scheme employer:
Name:

Michael Graham

Job Title:

Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services

Address:

Civic Centre, Reading, Tel No:0118 9373470

Email:

michael.graham@reading.gov.uk

Page 89

SCHEME EMPLOYER CONFIRMATION
It is understood that the discretions contained within this statement of policy are
applicable to all eligible members of the Scheme. The Scheme rules allow for a revised
statement to be issued at least one month in advance of the date that any new policy
takes effect. The revised statement must be sent to the administering authority and the
employer must publish its statement as revised in a place that is accessible to all of its
eligible scheme members.
The policies made above:
Have regard to the extent to which the exercise of the discretions could lead to a serious
loss of confidence in the public service;
Will not be used for any ulterior motive;
Will be exercised reasonably;
Will only be used when there is a real and substantial future benefit to the employer for
incurring the extra costs that may arise;
Will be duly recorded when applied.

Name in Block Capitals:

JACQUELINE YATES

Position:

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Scheme Employer’s Name:

READING BOROUGH COUNCIL

Page 90

PAY POLICY STATEMENT – ANNEX F
KEY PAY SCALES FOR COUNCIL STAFF (1ST APRIL 2020)

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9a
READING BOROUGH COUNCIL
REPORT BY ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES
TO:

COUNCIL

DATE:

23 MARCH 2021

TITLE:

RECOMMENDATION FROM PERSONNEL COMMITTEE:
DESIGNATION OF SECTION 151 OFFICER AND CHANGES TO
ARTICLE 12 OF THE CONSTITUTION

LEAD
COUNCILLOR:

CLLR BROCK

PORTFOLIO:

LEADERSHIP

LEAD OFFICER:

MICHAEL GRAHAM

TEL:

0118 937 3470

JOB TITLE:

ASSISTANT
E-MAIL:
DIRECTOR OF LEGAL
AND DEMOCRATIC
SERVICES

michael.graham@reading.
gov.uk

1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

The Personnel Committee recommended at its meeting on 27 January 2021
(Minute 8 refers) to make the newly created post of Director of Finance, the
Council’s Section 151 Officer.

1.2

Appendices
Appendix 1: Personnel Committee Minutes – 27 January 2021
Appendix 2: Revised Article 12 of the Council’s Constitution.

2.

RECOMMENDED ACTION

2.1

That the Director of Finance be designated as the Council’s Chief Finance
Officer and Section 151 Officer.

2.1

That Article 12 of the Council’s Constitution be amended as set out in
Appendix 2 of the report.

3.

POLICY CONTEXT

3.1

This report is required following the Personnel Committee’s decision to
restructure for the Corporate Management Team. The restructure seeks to
continue to support the Council’s good track record of delivery of front-line
customer facing services, but also increase capacity to deliver a range of

Page 93

projects to support the continued growth and development of Reading,
alongside balancing the Council’s budget.
3.2

The proposals agreed by the Personnel Committee included the appointment
of a Director of Finance and making this postholder the Chief Finance Officer
and Section 151 Officer. There were also consequential changes required to
Article 12 of the Constitution due to this and the restructure more generally.

3.3

The link to the Personnel Committee papers of the meeting held on 27 January
2021 is below:
(Public Pack)Agenda Document for Personnel Committee, 27/01/2021 18:30
(reading.gov.uk)

4.

THE PROPOSAL

4.1

The Council is asked to approve the recommendations of the Personnel
Committee to:
(a) Designate the post of Director of Finance as the Council’s Chief Finance
Officer and Section 151 Officer; and
(b) Amend Article 12 of the Constitution, as set out in Appendix 2.

5.

CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC AIMS

5.1

The management restructure is important to the achievement of all of the
Council’s Strategic Aims as set out in the Corporate Plan 2018-21, but in
particular to the aim of remaining financially sustainable to deliver the
service priorities set out in the Plan.

6.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

6.1

There are no environmental and climate implications as a result of the
recommendations in this report.

7.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND INFORMATION

7.1

The proposals concern reflecting the structure of the internal senior
management of the authority in Article 12 of the Constitution. It is neither
appropriate nor required for them to be the subject of external consultation.

8.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1

At this stage it is not considered that an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is
required.

Page 94

9.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Whilst the Personnel Committee has the power to appoint the Director of
Finance, the status of the role as Chief Finance Officer and Section 151 officer
is a matter for Council, since Article 12 of the Constitution specifies the
designations of each role. The amended Article 12 is attached to this report
as Appendix 2.

10.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1

The financial implications of the restructure of the Corporate Management
Team are set out in the report to Personnel Committee on 27 January 2021
(see link to papers above). There are no financial implications to the
recommendations set out in this report.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1

None

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1
PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MINUTES – 27 JANUARY 2021
Present:

Councillor Emberson (Chair);
Councillors Brock, Page and Stanford-Beale (substitute for
Councillor Skeats).

Apologies:

Councillors Lovelock and Skeats

Also Present:

Michael Graham, Peter Sloman and Shella Smith; Kiaran
Magee.

8.

DESIGNATION OF DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chief Executive submitted a report, which set out details of a proposal to
restructure the Corporate Management Team which would enable delivery of the
Council’s ambitious agenda through increased capacity in several key areas. The
following documents were attached to the report:
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix
Appendix

1:
2:
3:
4:

Current Corporate Management Team structure
Proposed Corporate Management Team structure
Senior officers’ salary benchmarking
Proposed amendments to Article 12 of the Constitution

The report proposed that the current post of Executive Director of Resources be redesignated as Deputy Chief Executive, with responsibility for delivering the Council’s
ambitious plans in relation to social inclusion, anti-poverty and the ‘levelling up’
agenda, and to undertake the statutory functions of the Deputy Head of Paid Service in
the absence of the Chief Executive. The report also proposed that, following an
unsuccessful attempt to fill the post of Assistant Director of Finance, a new Director of
Finance post be created. This role would take responsibility for being the Chief Finance
Officer and Section 151 Officer, which was currently under the remit of the Director of
Resources. The Financial Planning and Strategy Manager would then be re-designated
as the Deputy Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Section 151 Officer.
The report explained that a benchmarking exercise had been carried out for the salaries
of the Deputy Chief Executive and the Director of Finance, which was attached at
Appendix 3 to the report and that the additional costs could be met from existing salary
budget.
The report also explained that Article 12 of the Council’s constitution would need to
be amended to reflect the changes to the officer roles and responsibilities, and
requested that the Committee approve the changes set out in Appendix 4 of the report
for onward submission to Council. The Committee noted that this Appendix would be
further amended before submission to Council to ensure that the titles of Executive
Director roles were consistent throughout the document and to keep the role of
Executive Director of Resources in section 12.1.2b to allow this role to be refilled in
future if required.

Page 97

APPENDIX 1
PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MINUTES – 27 JANUARY 2021
Resolved:
(1)

That the Corporate Management Team structure set out at Appendix 2
to the report be approved in principle, and a new Director of Finance
post be created;

(2)

That the designations in the amended Article 12 of the Constitution
attached at Appendix 4 to the report be submitted to Council for
approval.

(The meeting commenced at 6.30pm and closed at 6.42pm).

Page 98

APPENDIX 2

Article 12 – Officers
12.1 Management Structure

12.1.1 The authority may appoint and employ staff under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972. Staff
are employed by the authority. Where an authority is operating executive arrangements, the
appointment of staff cannot be the responsibility of the executive. Appointment of staff below deputy
chief officer level must be the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her nominee.
12.1.2 Councils must include a standing order on the appointment of chief officers, the people who can or
must be involved in the appointment of officers and disciplinary action against the Head of Paid Service,
Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer. by virtue of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders)
Regulations 1993, Local Authorities (Standing Orders)(England) Regulations 2001, Local Authorities
(Standing Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2014 and Local Authorities (Standing
Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015. The requirements of these Regulations are met by
this Article and the Officer Employment Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution.
(a)

General.
The authority may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its
functions.

(b)

Chief Officers
The full Council will confirm the appointment of the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and the
Personnel (Appointments) Committee will make appointments to the following posts (or such other
similar posts as it may decide from time to time), who will be designated chief officers:






(c)

Deputy Chief Executive
Executive Director of Resources
Executive Director of Adult Care and Health Services
Executive Director of Children’s, Education and Early Help Services
Executive Director of Economic Growth &nvironment and Neighbourhood Services

Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financeial Officer and Deputies
The Council has designated the following posts as shown:




Chief Executive - Head of Paid Service
Strategic Finance Director of Finance - Chief Finance Officer and Section 151 Officer
Head Assistant Director of Legal and Democratic Services - Monitoring Officer

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders)(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015 prescribe that the
dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer must be
confirmed by the full Council.
The Council has designated the following Deputy posts as shown:



Deputy Chief Executive – Deputy Head of Paid Service
Financial Planning and Strategy Manager Head of Finance – Deputy Chief Finance Officer and Deputy
Section 151 Officer

Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.2–12.4 below.
(d)

Structure
The senior management of the Council is set out at Part 7 of this Constitution.

(e)

Delegations

Page 99

APPENDIX 2
A considerable number of decisions are made by designated officers under approved delegated powers
and a register of these is published on the Council’s website and is available for inspection by
Councillors and citizens on request. An officer may not take a key decision under the exercise of a
delegated function, and all key decisions must be taken by full Council or a Committee. This process is
described in Article 13.
In certain circumstances where there is no existing officer delegation, Directors and Statutory Officers
may take decisions which are not key decisions in consultation with the relevant Lead Councillor, and
subject to these decisions being recorded by using the Decision Book process. This process is described
in Standing Order 42 (See the Rules of Procedure – Part 4 below)

12.2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service
(a)

Discharge of functions by the Council
The Head of Paid Service will report to full Council or the Policy Committee on the manner in
which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and grade of officers
required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of officers.

(b)

Restrictions on functions
The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief
Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.

12.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer
(a)

Maintaining the Constitution.
The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure
that it is widely available for inspection by Members, staff and the public; and will advise on
the application of the Constitution.

(b)

Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision-making
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer
will report to the full Council or to a Committee if s/he considers that any proposal, decision
or omission by that body would give rise to unlawfulness, or if any decision or omission has
given rise to maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or
decision being implemented until the report has been considered.

(c)

Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Members
The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of
conduct through promoting the local Member Code of Conduct; providing advice and support
to Members of the authority and to the Standards Committee on the Code; and operating the
authority’s procedure for dealing with complaints about Members The Local Member Code of
Conduct is in Part 5 of the Constitution. The terms of reference of the Standards Committee,
and the procedure for dealing with complaints about Members, are in Article 9.

(d)

Proper officer for access to information
The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the decisions of the Council and its Committees,
together with the reasons for those decisions and relevant officer reports and background
papers, are made publicly available as required by the Access to Information Rules in part 4 of
the Constitution.

(e)

Advising whether decisions are within the policy framework.
The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of full Council and Committees are not
contrary to the policy framework of the authority, under the Budget and Policy Framework
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution.

(f)

Contributing to corporate management
The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in
particular through the provision of professional legal advice.

Page 100

APPENDIX 2

(g)

Providing advice
The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take
decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework
issues to all Councillors.

(h)

Restrictions on posts
The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

12.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer
(a)

Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision-making
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance
Officer will report to the full Council or the Policy Committee, and the Council’s external
auditor, if s/he considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring
unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council
is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.

(b)

Administration of financial affairs
The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs
of the Council.

(c)

Advising whether decisions are within the budget framework.
The Chief Finance Officer will advise whether decisions of full Council and its Committees are
not contrary to, or not in accordance with the budget framework of the authority, under the
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution.

(d)

Contributing to corporate management
The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in
particular through the provision of professional financial advice.

(e)

Providing advice
The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority to take
decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework
issues to all Councillors and will support and advise Councillors and officers in their respective
roles.

(f)

Give financial information
The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media, members of the
public and the community.

12.5 Duty to provide sufficient Resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance
Officer
The Council will provide Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with
such officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties
to be performed.

12.6 Conduct
Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Officer/Member Relations
set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.

12.7 Employment
The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer Employment Rules set
out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Page 101

This page is intentionally left blank

